

# **Initial Heliostat Supply Chain Analysis**

Parthiv Kurup, Sertaç Akar, Chad Augustine, and David Feldman

National Renewable Energy Laboratory

NREL is a national laboratory of the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC Technical Report NREL/TP-7A40-83569 November 2022

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308



# **Initial Heliostat Supply Chain Analysis**

Parthiv Kurup, Sertaç Akar, Chad Augustine, and David Feldman

National Renewable Energy Laboratory

#### **Suggested Citation**

Kurup, Parthiv, Sertaç Akar, Chad Augustine, and David Feldman. 2022. *Initial Heliostat Supply Chain Analysis*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-7A40-83569. <u>https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy23osti/83569.pdf</u>.

NREL is a national laboratory of the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC **Technical Report** NREL/TP-7A40-83569 November 2022

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308

National Renewable Energy Laboratory 15013 Denver West Parkway Golden, CO 80401 303-275-3000 • www.nrel.gov

#### NOTICE

This work was authored by the National Renewable Energy Laboratory, operated by Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC, for the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) under Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308. Funding provided by the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy Solar Energy Technologies Office. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of the DOE or the U.S. Government.

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) reports produced after 1991 and a growing number of pre-1991 documents are available free via www.OSTI.gov.

Cover Photos by Dennis Schroeder: (clockwise, left to right) NREL 51934, NREL 45897, NREL 42160, NREL 45891, NREL 48097, NREL 46526.

NREL prints on paper that contains recycled content.

### **Acknowledgments**

Funding provided by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy's Solar Energy Technologies Office. The National Renewable Energy Laboratory does not endorse the companies specified in this paper, and any mention is strictly for research purposes.

### **List of Acronyms**

AC	Alternating Current
ATB	Annual Technology Baseline
BLS	Bureau of Labor Statistics
BOM	Bill of Materials
CAPEX	Capital Expenditure
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon Dioxide
c-Si	crystalline silicon
CSP	Concentrating Solar Power
CST	Concentrating Solar-Thermal
Decarb	Decarbonization
DC	Direct Current
DEWA	Dubai Electricity and Water Authority
DLR	German Aerospace Center
DOE	U.S. Department of Energy
DRC	Democratic Republic of Congo
DSG	Direct Steam Generation
EFS	Electrification Futures Study
EPC	Engineering Procurement and Construction
EV	Electric Vehicles
Gen3	Generation 3
GW	Gigawatts
HelioCon	Heliostat Consortium
HRC	Hot-Rolled-Coil
HTF	Heat Transfer Fluid
IASS	Institute for Advanced Sustainability Studies
IEA	International Energy Agency
IPH	Industrial Process Heat
JEDI	Jobs and Economic Development Impact
kW	Kilowatts
kWe	Kilowatts Electric
kWh	Kilowatt Hour
LCA	Life Cycle Analysis
LCOE	Levelized Cost of Electricity
LED	Light-Emitting Diode
LPO	Loan Programs Office
MENA	Middle East and North Africa
MFI	Material Flow Through Industry
MT	Metric Tonne
MWe	Megawatts Electric
MWh	Megawatt Hour
NREL	National Renewable Energy Laboratory
0&M	Operations and Maintenance
OCC	Overnight Cost of Capital
OSW	Onshore Wind
PNIEC	Spanish National Integrated Energy and Climate Plan
	-r-mon reaction integrated Energy and Chinate I fail

PPA	Purchase Price Agreement
PV	Photovoltaics
R&D	Research and Development
SAM	System Advisor Model
sbp	Schlaich Bergermann und Partner
sCO <sub>2</sub>	Super Critical Carbon Dioxide
SEGS	Solar Energy Generation Systems
SOTA	State of the Art
TEA	Techno-Economic Analysis
TES	Thermal Energy Storage
TWhth	Terawatt Hours Thermal
UAE	United Arab Emirates
USGS	United States Geological Survey
ZAR	South African Rand

### **Executive Summary**

Globally, the growing demand for concentrating solar power (CSP) technologies, primarily for electricity generation plants, has been met by supply chains composed mostly of plentiful commodity materials, such as steel, aluminum, and glass. The majority of the commodity materials are sourced within the domestic market where the generating plants are constructed. However, specialty components are required for CSP solar field components—including the mirror panels used for heliostat applications—and these specialty components constitute about 30%–50% of total system installed costs. Only a few companies and countries, including the United States, have developed the capacity to supply such specialty components.

CSP manufacturing faces challenges in the United States and globally. Compared to photovoltaics (PV), CSP systems are much more complex and require a much larger minimum effective scale, resulting in higher total capital expenditure (CAPEX) requirements for system construction, lengthier development cycles, and higher energy costs. These CSP characteristics favor large, well-funded manufacturers and can potentially inhibit new, disruptive startup companies. In addition, the lack of consistent CSP project development across the globe creates planning, scale-up, and operational challenges for companies that manufacture specialty CSP components. Finally, the lack of a near-term U.S. market is a formidable challenge to domestic CSP heliostat manufacturers. Challenging project economics have stalled or spurred the cancellation of many U.S. CSP projects, and declining PV costs have influenced the switch of some large solar projects from CSP to PV. The current lack of strong domestic CSP demand makes a near-term expansion of U.S.-based CSP production unlikely.

Several opportunities exist for U.S. CSP heliostat manufacturing in the domestic and global arenas. CSP deployment is expected to grow in regions like China, Africa, and the Middle East over the next 3–5 years. Combining CSP with thermal energy storage (TES) could enable the potential for more rapid CSP growth beyond 2022, when the increasing penetration of PV and other variable generation sources will place a greater emphasis and value on dispatchability. More conservative projects estimate a potential of 39 GW by 2050 (Augustine, Turchi, and Mehos 2022). The United States could also benefit from the same innovation advantages it possesses with regard to PV. Additional innovation, commercialization efforts, and market development are needed for CSP to become competitive with other generating technologies. Further, development of TES and industrial process heat (IPH) applications could enhance CSP's unique benefits. Established U.S. research and development centers contribute to a strong CSP-specific innovation capacity and knowledge base, which could confer an advantage to U.S.-based firms, should domestic demand markets recover.

By 2035, there could be 500,000–1,500,000 direct and indirect solar PV jobs in the areas of installation and development, manufacturing, and operations and maintenance (O&M). Based on the CSP capacity estimates from the "Solar Futures Study," the construction of 39 GW of CSP (assuming mainly power tower) in the United States could lead to approximately 195,000 manufacturing, construction, and O&M jobs. This does not include the longer-term jobs and economic impact (e.g., taxes from plant operations staff) that will arise from operating the plants once they are constructed. We recommend that the field undertake further CSP supply chain analysis as well as a heliostat-focused supply chain modeling effort.

### **Table of Contents**

Tal	ole of	Contents	vii
1	Intro	duction	1
2	Glob	oal CSP Market and Players	4
	2.1	Growth, Status, and Trends	4
3	Rep	resentative Heliostat Costs	6
	3.1	Installed Cost for Commercial Heliostats	6
	3.2	Installed Cost for Advanced Heliostats	8
4	Helio	ostat and Material Supply Chain	12
	4.1	Domestic Content	12
	4.2	Material Value and Embodied Domestic Jobs	14
	4.3	Heliostat Glass Suppliers	19
	4.4	Global Heliostat Developers, EPCs, and Key Suppliers	21
5	CSP	and Heliostat Challenges	24
	5.1	Large Scale, Complexity, and Cost	24
	5.2	Volume and Precision Manufacturing for Heliostats	25
	5.3	Inconsistent Annual Demand and Pipeline	25
	5.4	Global Supply Chain Disruptions	26
	5.5	Uncertain U.S. and Global Growth Prospects	27
6	Opp	ortunities	28
-	6.1	Near-Term Global and Long-Term U.S. Growth Potential	28
	6.2	U.S. Innovation and Funding Landscape	29
	6.3	Potential for Other Markets	30
	6.4	Jobs and Domestic Content	30
7	Reco	ommendations	32
	7.1	Future Detailed Market, Manufacturing Capacity, and Economic Impact Analysis	32
	7.2	Development of a Heliostat Supply Chain Model.	33
	7.3	Future CSP Supply Chain Modeling and Development Efforts	34
Re	feren	Ces	36

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1. Cost reductions needed to get to the DOE SunShot 2030 target.	2
Figure 2. Global installed CSP capacity by country (2006–2020)	5
Figure 3. Installed cost for the Stellio assuming 22,239 heliostats (1,078,592 m <sup>2</sup> of aperture area)	6
Figure 4. Total installed cost breakdown by category for sbp Stellio heliostat.	8
Figure 5. Installed cost for the SunRing assuming 40,000 heliostats yielding 1,078,560 m <sup>2</sup> of aperture	
area	9
Figure 6. Total installed cost breakdown by category for Solar Dynamics SunRing heliostat	11
Figure 7. System total material content for representative molten salt power tower plant	14
Figure 8. CSP heliostat supply chain.	21
Figure 9. Year-on-year global annual installed capacity for the CSP industry	26
Figure 10. Material flow for clean energy supply chain example	33

### **List of Tables**

Table 1. Heliostat System Costs for 22,239 Stellio Heliostats (1,078,592 m <sup>2</sup> of aperture area)7
Table 2. Heliostat System Costs for 40,000 SunRing heliostats (1,078,560 m <sup>2</sup> of aperture area)10
Table 3. Materials Content (in Metric Tonnes (MT)) of Three Different Nominal 103 MWe Configurations
Table 4. Material Weight Estimates for Prior Analysis and Commercial/Advanced Designs14
Table 5. Molten Salt Power Tower Analysis and Recent Heliostat Analysis Estimated Values
Table 6. Jobs Associated With Key Materials in a Molten Salt Power Tower Plant and Recent Analysis 18
Table 7. Key Mirror Glass Suppliers for Heliostats Globally
Table 8. Key Suppliers and Developers in the U.S. Heliostat Supply Chain
Table 9. Key Summary Results From the Solar Futures Study
Table 10. Overnight Cost of Capital (OCC) and CAPEX From ATB 2022 Projections in 2035 and 205029
Table 11. Potential Direct and Indirect Jobs for Constructing 100 and 1,000 Heliostat Fields Utilizing
Current Analysis

### **1** Introduction

Concentrating solar power (CSP) provides significant value for economies, offering baseloadlike dispatch of electricity (even at night), grid services, and value (Mark Mehos et al. 2017; World Bank 2021). In addition to electricity generation, other key factors are also important in CSP deployment, including the value of the supply chain, materials and commodities, construction and direct jobs, and workforce development. The United States is a leader in the development and deployment of new clean energy technologies, advancing global climate change goals. However, U.S.-based manufacturers of CSP components and systems have lost market share over the past two decades as systems and technologies such as solar photovoltaics (PV) and onshore wind have become fully commercial, dominating both in the U.S. and globally.

Local manufacturing of renewable energy technologies—and the associated supply chains—help increase a region's ability to adopt and develop industries that support both the domestic and global renewable energy markets (World Bank 2011). For example, for the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) to increase the deployment of an important renewable energy technology like CSP that utilizes the region's excellent solar resource conditions, local manufacturing, supply chains, and investment are identified as key factors in reducing costs and increasing regional strength (World Bank 2011). This investment then drives innovation, significant local job creation (during both construction and CSP plant operation), and value creation along the supply chains. The supply chain for CSP is primarily composed of plentiful commodity materials, such as steel, aluminum, and glass (Chung, Horowitz, and Kurup 2016; Stone & Associates 2011), that are produced in relative abundance in domestic markets like the United States. Even with local supply capabilities, CSP projects tend to use Mexican or Chinese steel unless there are local content requirements. This is unlike the key components of the crystalline silicon (c-Si) PV supply chain, which are more complex in nature (Carey 2021). With further growth and development, the CSP supply chain could provide significant economic benefits in the United States, as it has done in other regions such as Spain, which is globally dominant when it comes to CSP technology developers, expertise, and deployments (Pacific Green Technologies Group 2021).

This report will look briefly at the domestic heliostat supply chain and its implications. Power tower plants have large arrays of mirrors, called heliostats, that focus sunlight onto a receiver at the top of a tower. Heliostats are a critical component of CSP and concentrating solar-thermal (CST) power tower technologies. A utility-scale heliostat field (100 MW<sub>e</sub>, for example) might include more than 10,000 heliostats (NREL and SolarPACES 2021). Heliostats represent 30%–50% of the cost of power tower system construction (Augustine, Turchi, and Mehos 2022; NREL 2021c), and are a primary driver of O&M costs. For parabolic trough technology, the solar field can be nearly 40% of the total system construction cost (IRENA 2016).

Improvements to heliostat cost, performance, and reliability are necessary to achieve the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) 2030 SunShot target for CSP of \$0.05/kWh with 12 hours of thermal energy storage (TES) in the Southwest (DOE SETO 2021b). Low-cost, high-performance Generation 3 (Gen3) CSP technologies are expected to integrate with high-temperature tower receivers and TES with advanced supercritical carbon dioxide (sCO<sub>2</sub>) cycles. DOE recently down-selected the solid-particle pathway as the most likely to meet the 2030

SunShot target (Sandia National Laboratories 2021). The National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) led the liquid pathway (C. Turchi et al. 2021), and Brayton Energy led the gas pathway (DOE SETO 2021a). To help meet these SETO goals, heliostats between \$50–\$70/m<sup>2</sup> are likely needed, depending on the scenario and the performance of the CSP systems (DOE SETO 2021b).

The 0.05/kWh 2030 target represents nearly a 50% reduction in the levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) for CSP power towers from 2018 estimates (DOE SETO 2021b). If a low-cost heliostat solar field of 50/m<sup>2</sup> could be realized by 2030, the system effect would be nearly a 20% drop in the LCOE, helping achieve this type of LCOE reduction (Shultz 2020).

Recent research has found that the installed cost of a representative commercial heliostat deployed in the United States today is approximately \$127/m<sup>2</sup>, whereas the installed cost of a next-generation advanced heliostat could be \$96/m<sup>2</sup> (Kurup et al. 2022). Both representative heliostats are highlighted in this report. As shown in Figure 1, although heliostat system costs have decreased considerably, and at present could be \$93–\$97/m<sup>2</sup> for a state-of-the-art (SOTA) heliostat, a \$50/m<sup>2</sup> heliostat cost is necessary to achieve aggressive targets for 100% decarbonization of the U.S. grid (Augustine, Turchi, and Mehos 2022). As shown in Figure 1, the mirrors, drives, pedestal, and foundations make up nearly 84% of the \$50/m<sup>2</sup> installed heliostat cost target. Although research and development (R&D) and increased deployment could lead to innovations in next-generation heliostats, a key aspect of future cost reductions will be to improve the supply chain of locally manufactured components.



#### Figure 1. Cost reductions needed to get to the DOE SunShot 2030 target.

The Heliostat Consortium (HelioCon) for CST Power is focused on improving heliostat field cost and performance for the CST power industry. The consortium supports research, development, validation, commercialization, and deployment of low-cost and high-performance heliostats with optimized O&M for CSP and CST applications. The work in this report fits into the Advanced Manufacturing key research area. To advance U.S. heliostat technologies, HelioCon engages subject matter experts and general stakeholders for direct project-level collaboration, external consulting, mission-specific panels and workshops (NREL 2021c).

HelioCon also serves as a hub to integrate all DOE-funded projects that directly advance heliostat technologies. The HelioCon objective related to heliostat manufacturing and supply chain (NREL 2021c) is to:

"Develop strategic core capabilities and infrastructure to support high-performance heliostat manufacturing, validation, and optimization and facilitate industry's ability to design, manufacture, install, and operate central receiver heliostat fields with higher technical and economic performance."

This report will cover aspects of the initial work for analyzing the existing heliostat supply chain. The remainder of the report covers the global CSP market and trends (Section 2), representative heliostat costs (Section 3), and the heliostat and material supply chain (Section 4). Section 5 covers key challenges; Section 6 covers opportunities; and Section 7 discusses recommendations from this work.

### 2 Global CSP Market and Players

#### 2.1 Growth, Status, and Trends

The CSP industry has its roots in the LUZ parabolic trough plants that were established in California in the 1980s. LUZ built nine plants, Solar Energy Generation Systems (SEGS) 1–IX, that demonstrated the early commercial implementation of CSP trough technology, providing an important source of knowledge for future CSP system development (Mark Mehos et al. 2020). Over the last 20 years, the CSP industry has evolved into a global industry and supply chain. Standalone and hybrid CSP plants for electricity have been built in 12 different countries, and as of 2021, the industry is approaching 100 plants in commercial operation (World Bank 2021).

At present, the most widely deployed CSP technology for power generation uses parabolic trough collectors. As of 2021, 6,246 megawatts electric (MWe) of worldwide operating CSP capacity has been installed (SolarPACES 2021). Of this, more than 4,000 MWe utilizes parabolic trough collectors (SolarPACES 2021; C. S. Turchi, Stekli, and Bueno 2017). Power towers, the second-most deployed CSP technology, are approaching 2 gigawatts (GW) of global capacity that is either operational or under construction (SolarPACES 2021). Of the 1,110 MWe of CSP construction worldwide in 2021, 260 MW, or 23%, was for power towers with molten salt (World Bank 2021).

As seen in Figure 2, Spain leads the world in installed CSP operating capacity at approximately 2.3 GW, and the United States comes in second at ~1.7 GW. As of 2021, 392 MW<sub>c</sub> of power tower CSP capacity was operating at the Ivanpah Solar Electric Generating System in California (NREL 2021a). This capacity represents approximately 23% of the U.S. operating CSP capacity (SolarPACES 2021), and it comes from direct steam generation towers rather than molten salt power towers. The Crescent Dunes 110-MW<sub>c</sub> molten salt power tower plant in Nevada has operated intermittently due to the failure of key components, including the hot salt tank and the steam generating system (Wesoff 2020). Notably, the availability of the heliostat field has not been a key issue impacting the annual performance of the plant.

The largest CSP plant being constructed in the world is the 950-MW<sub>e</sub> system located in Dubai, United Arab Emirates (UAE), which consists of a combined parabolic trough, power tower with molten salt, and PV system (World Bank 2021). The complex, overseen by the Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA), is a 950-MW<sub>e</sub> site composed of 600 MW<sub>e</sub> of parabolic troughs (i.e., 3 x 200-MW<sub>e</sub> trough plants) and a 100-MW<sub>e</sub> molten salt tower site, with each plant having 12–15 hours of TES for the CSP portion (World Bank 2021). The 250-MW<sub>e</sub> PV portion is also key, as the hybrid CSP-PV complex, along with a 35-year purchase price agreement (PPA), has led to the world record for the current lowest LCOE. The complex PPA is \$0.073/kWh (Lilliestam and Pitz-Paal 2018; World Bank 2021).



Figure 2. Global installed CSP capacity by country (2006–2020).

Illustration from World Bank

Today, the largest operating molten salt power tower plant is the Noor III 150-MW<sub>e</sub> plant in Morocco, which includes 7.5 hours of TES (Chamberlain 2019). The 580-MW<sub>e</sub> Noor Ouarzazate complex includes 360 MW<sub>e</sub> of parabolic trough, 150 MW<sub>e</sub> of power tower, and 70 MW<sub>e</sub> of PV (Power Technology 2020). In 2021, a 110-MW<sub>e</sub> molten salt power tower in Chile with 17.5 hours of TES was inaugurated and began syncing with the grid (Business Wire 2021; Renewables Now 2021). Another key developing market is China. In the last 4 years, approximately 350 MW has been built in China (150 MW<sub>e</sub> of power towers), and 100 MW<sub>e</sub> is in construction. Of the 100 MW<sub>e</sub> in construction in China, 50% is for molten salt power towers (World Bank 2021).

A key aspect of CSP is that the deployment of trough and tower technologies in a country also leads to the development of an integrated supply chain and the utilization of domestic markets for products such as glass, concrete, and steel (Chung, Horowitz, and Kurup 2016). In all the markets in Figure 2, CSP can lead to the development of local supply chains and capacity development (World Bank 2013; 2021). This is an important motivator for markets like Morocco and UAE, which are seeing cost reductions through manufacturing and the development of local supply chains (Hasem 2017; World Bank 2021).

### **3 Representative Heliostat Costs**

NREL has recently undertaken a detailed bottom-up costing for "commercial" and "advanced" heliostats. A summary of the bottom-up analysis is provided in this report, and some of the analysis has been extended. For further details, the full report can be found through the NREL publications database (Kurup et al. 2022). The "commercial" design was the Schlaich Bergermann und Partner (referred to as sbp) Stellio. The "advanced" design was the Solar Dynamics LLC SunRing.

### 3.1 Installed Cost for Commercial Heliostats

The sbp Stellio is a representative commercial heliostat. There are other commercial designs that exist, and future work will aim to undertake more bottom-up analysis of commercial heliostats. The NREL team performed a manufacturing, assembly, and construction analysis, leading to an installed cost of the Stellio heliostat with a production volume of 22,239 heliostats (this represents a solar field aperture area of 1,078,592 m<sup>2</sup>, based on 48.5 m<sup>2</sup> Stellio heliostats) (Kurup et al. 2022). The analysis led to a total installed cost of the Stellio solar field of ~ $127/m^2$ , which includes manufacturing costs, tooling investments, and construction. The breakdown is shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Installed cost for the Stellio assuming 22,239 heliostats (1,078,592 m<sup>2</sup> of aperture area).

The \$127/m<sup>2</sup> includes \$878,000 for tooling amortized over the production of the heliostat field volume, and a \$7.5 million heliostat assembly facility adjacent to the solar field. The total heliostat installed field capital expenditure (CAPEX) is approximately \$137 million. Table 1 shows the breakdown of the 22,239 heliostats for the Stellio solar field.

Heliostat Subsystem	Installed Cost (\$/m²) per Kurup et al. (2022)	Installed Cost Breakdown (%)	Estimated Installation Cost/Value (\$2021	Cost per Heliostat (\$2021)
Transport	2.29	2%	\$2,469,976	\$111
Site Installation Labor	16.39	13%	\$17,678,123	\$795
Infrastructure	6.95	6%	\$7,496,214	\$337
Foundations	5.15	4%	\$5,554,749	\$250
Purchased Parts		45%		
Fasteners	2.06	(2%)	\$2,221,900	\$100
Mirrors and Adhesives	16.08	(13%)	\$18,336,064	\$825
Controllers	14.43	(11%)	\$15,564,083	\$700
Linear Actuators	16.08	(13%)	\$17,343,759	\$780
Power and Energy Storage	7.98	(6%)	\$8,607,164	\$387
Manufactured Parts		30%		
Mirror Supports	6.79	(5%)	\$7,323,640	\$329
Rotation Assembly	12.19	(10%)	\$13,148,036	\$592
Base assembly	19.96	(15%)	\$21,528,696	\$968
Totals	\$127/m <sup>2</sup>	100%	\$137.29M	\$6,174

Table 1. Heliostat System Costs for 22,239 Stellio Heliostats (1,078,592 m<sup>2</sup> of aperture area)

As seen in Table 1, the largest contributors to the installed cost are the base assembly (~15%) and the mirrors and adhesives (~13%). The site labor costs (~13%) represent the total expected labor costs (based in Arizona) required to assemble and install the solar field. After mirrors, the linear actuators (~13%) and the control systems (~11%) are the second-most important cost contributors as purchased parts. The other manufactured parts, rotation assembly (~10%) and mirror support structure (~5%), constitute 15% of the total installed cost. The foundation costs (~4%) are variable because of site-specific considerations such as soil quality and expected wind loads. The transportation and shipping costs (~1.80%) are based on domestic shipping within the United States and are calculated based on vendor quotes provided by sbp.

All other categories, including site infrastructure and assembly, electrical cabling, interconnections, and fasteners, contribute  $\sim 15\%$  to the total installed cost. The fasteners category alone is a relatively large contribution, even after switching from traditional bolting or welding to riveted construction to reduce assembly time and costs at this manufacturing scale.

This detail demonstrates the importance of each component and step in the manufacturing process. The Stellio heliostat uses a balance of purchased components and manufactured components, and a breakdown of the total cost by category is presented in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Total installed cost breakdown by category for sbp Stellio heliostat.

Purchased parts are the largest contributor to the total installed cost (44%). Manufactured parts and their fabrication into subassemblies that are shipped to the field are the second-largest cost contributor (31%). Site labor (13%) and site assembly and fixtures (6%) are the third. The cost of foundations is 4%, and the cost of transportation/shipping is 2%.

At present, in the released version of the System Advisor Model (SAM) (2021.12.02), the default heliostat installed cost is  $140/m^2$  (NREL 2021b; World Bank 2021). Based on the bottom-up heliostat work (Kurup et al. 2022), the estimated installed cost of an established commercial heliostat is  $127/m^2$ . This value has been used in the Annual Technology Baseline (ATB) 2022 (NREL 2021a).

#### 3.2 Installed Cost for Advanced Heliostats

The installed cost analysis of the Solar Dynamics SunRing heliostat was performed for a production volume of 40,000 heliostats, which represents a plant size of 80 MW<sub>e</sub> with 12–16 hours of TES. Site assembly and construction costs were provided by Solar Dynamics. These costs include the equipment, infrastructure, and labor required to assemble and install all 40,000 heliostats. Arizona labor rates were used in this analysis, as labor rates in Arizona are lower than in California (e.g., 31% lower for construction laborers in 2021) (BLS 2021b) and the most recent CSP plants (e.g., Solana) have been built there.

With a total area of  $\sim 27 \text{ m}^2$  per heliostat, the analysis found the manufactured and installed cost to be approximately \$96/m<sup>2</sup>. This includes a tooling investment (e.g., dies and stamping sections) of \$450,000 and an \$880,000 assembly facility. Both are amortized over the required production volume for 40,000 heliostats. The SunRing assembly facility consists of five stations that build the entire heliostat, without the foundation, in a common location. This allows for heliostats to be completed every 7 minutes (Kattke 2019). The heliostat is then transported to its final location using a single piece of heavy equipment. The total heliostat installed field CAPEX is approximately \$104 million. A breakdown of the total cost by category can be seen in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Installed cost for the SunRing assuming 40,000 heliostats yielding 1,078,560 m<sup>2</sup> of aperture area.

Table 2 shows the same breakdown of the solar field in terms of the total installed cost. It also shows the portion of the cost used for the installation of the equipment and solar field.

Heliostat Subsystem	Installed Cost (\$/m²) per (Kurup et al. 2022)	Installed Cost Breakdown (%)	Estimated Installation Cost/Value (\$)	Cost per Heliostat (\$)
Transport	1.37	1.43%	\$1,480,000	\$37
Site Installation Labor	7.79	8.11%	\$8,400,000	\$210
Infrastructure	0.82	0.85%	\$880,000	\$22
Foundations	6.01	6.26%	\$6,480,000	\$162
Purchased Parts		56%		
Fasteners	8.64	(9.00%)	\$9,320,000	\$233
Mirrors and Adhesive	15.88	(16.54%)	\$17,120,000	\$428
Controllers	6.74	(7.03%)	\$7,280,000	\$182
Drives	16.39	(17.08%)	17,680,000	\$442
Power and Energy Storage	6.00	(6.26%)	\$6,480,000	\$162
Manufactured Parts		27%		
Mirror Supports	8.11	(8.46%)	8,760,000	\$219
Azimuth Track	5.26	(5.49%)	5,680,000	\$142
Lower Support	1.82	(1.89%)	1,960,000	\$49
Base Assembly	11.12	(11.59%)	12,000,000	\$300
Totals	\$96/m <sup>2</sup>	100%	\$103.5 M	\$2,588

Table 2. Heliostat System Costs for 40,000 SunRing heliostats (1,078,560 m<sup>2</sup> of aperture area)

Figure 6 illustrates that the major cost drivers in the SunRing heliostat design are purchased components. The purchased components make up 56% of the total cost. The drives and the mirrors account for almost one-third of the total cost. Manufactured components are 27% of the total cost. The base assembly is the largest cost of the manufactured subassemblies. This is because of both the large number of components within the base assembly and the mass and complexity of the hubs that ride on the azimuth track. The foundations can also be considered mostly purchased components, as the screw piles are 77% of the total cost. The fasteners, which include nuts, bolts, bushings, and rollers required for assembly, are also a significant contribution. The mirror support structure is the second-largest manufactured subassembly contribution because of its mass and number of parts. The site labor and infrastructure account for only 8% and 1% of the total cost, respectively.



Figure 6. Total installed cost breakdown by category for Solar Dynamics SunRing heliostat.

### 4 Heliostat and Material Supply Chain

### 4.1 Domestic Content

Unlike some other renewable energy technologies, CSP technologies generally do not rely on rare earth metals or other materials with potentially restricted supply (Chung, Horowitz, and Kurup 2016). For example, with light-duty electric vehicles (EVs), there are supply chain concerns about the current global expansion and demands for critical materials such as cobalt and lithium. Nearly 53% of globally mined cobalt—a key material in EV batteries—is from the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), and China refines nearly 47% the cobalt globally (Igogo et al. 2019). Similarly, nearly 80% of today's lithium production occurs in Australia, Chile, and Argentina (Igogo et al. 2019). This type of key material resource that is concentrated in certain regions of the world can lead to supply chain issues or a lack of supply in situations of adverse political pressure.

In contrast, CSP plants are constructed mainly from steel, aluminum, glass, and aggregate materials that are abundant, readily available, and frequently supplied by domestic sources for known uses. Key materials used in today's CSP plants are potassium and nitrate salts, which are sourced primarily from Chile (Chung, Horowitz, and Kurup 2016). Construction materials are available in most locations in the world where CSP plants might be deployed, which is an attractive attribute for local economies and supply chains. Domestic production of standard materials and the development of local supply chains are key enablers of CSP in locations such as Morocco and MENA (World Bank 2013; 2011). Turchi et al. found that in the United States, about 90% by mass and 79% by value of the commodity materials used in a 100-MW<sub>e</sub> CSP plant could be locally supplied by domestic sources (C. Turchi et al. 2015). It is important to note that in this report, the material content analysis (Table 5) assumed that if a new CSP molten salt power tower plant was built in the United States, there was already significant capacity for commodity materials in United States and that the commodity material could be sourced in the United States. However, for a new CSP plant built in the United States, global commodities such as steel would be used, rather than only U.S. commodities and materials. The analysis shows the U.S. economic value with local sourcing.

The data from the Turchi et al. 2015 report, which highlights the material content for three different CSP configurations, is shown in Table 3. The three configurations were a nominal 103- $MW_e$  CSP plant, with 6 hours of TES, for (i) a synthetic oil trough coupled to a two-tank molten salt TES; (ii) a salt trough directly coupled to a two-tank molten salt TES; and (iii) a molten salt power tower with direct two-tank TES.

Material	Oil Heat Transfer Fluid (HTF) Trough (MT)	Salt HTF Trough (MT)	Salt Power Tower (MT)
Carbon Steel, Iron, and Zinc	30,804	26,367	28,107
Stainless Steel	1,918	2,283	1,010
Alloy Steel	1	261	335
Copper	140	334	427
Silver	1	1	1
Ferronickel	11	10	-
Aluminum	441	333	287
Insulation	2,755	2,169	1,277
Glass	12,211	11,261	10,055
Plastics	508	400	617
Glue	12	11	-
Paint	233	215	-
Oils and Lubricants	4,600	95	95
Sodium Nitrate (Solar Salt)	40,100	16,301	10,451
Potassium Nitrate (Solar Salt)	26,700	10,867	6,967
Nitrogen	18	-	-
Concrete and Brick	66,661	59,088	78,829
Cement	49	-	-
Asphalt	7,960	7,347	3,879
Crushed Stone and Gravel	53,081	49,087	46,889
System Total	248,204	186,431	189,226

# Table 3. Materials Content (in Metric Tonnes (MT)) of Three Different Nominal 103 $\rm MW_e$ Configurations

Most of the solar field is made up of standard materials such as carbon steel, glass, and copper. As seen in Figure 7 (data reproduced from C. Turchi et al. (2015)), of the estimated 189,227 MT of material associated with a nominal 103-MW<sub>e</sub> molten salt power plant with 6 hours of TES, approximately 14% of the material content is in the solar field (26,832 MT). The MT of silvered low-iron glass depends on the specific heliostat design used. For the design highlighted, 10,055 MT of low-iron glass and 1 MT of silver were used (C. Turchi et al. 2015). As can also be seen in the figure, the steel content in the solar field is approximately 62% of the MT of the field (i.e., 16,584 MT compared to 26,832 MT).

Molten-Salt Power Tower Plant Material (metric tonnes) / System	Site Improvements	Tower	Receiver	Solar Field	Power Plant Systems	Steam Generator System	TES	Sum for Power Plant
Carbon Steel, Iron and Zinc	103	2,811	384	16,584	4,907	2,794	524	28,107
Stainless Steel	3	97	137	-	67	254	452	1,010
Alloy Steel	1	5	70	(m)	249	8	2	335
Copper	1	2	40	121	185	68	10	427
Silver	-	-	-	1.0	-	-	-	1
Ferronickel								
Aluminum		2	4	-	257	7	17	287
Insulation	-	40	88	( <b>-</b> )	53	27	1,069	1,277
Glass	22	-	-	10,055				10,055
Plastics	399	1	14	70	115	15	3	617
Glue								
Paint								
Oils and lubricants	-	-	-		95	-	-	95
Sodium nitrate (solar salt)	-	-	-		-	-	10,451	10,451
Potassium nitrate (solar salt)	-	-	-	121		<u> </u>	6,967	6,967
Nitrogen								
Concrete and brick	624	53,033	-	121	12,213	10,080	2,879	78,829
Cement								
Asphalt	3,879	-	-	(m)	0	-	-	3,879
Crushed Stone and Gravel	46,609	-	-	120	280	-	12	46,889
System Total	51,619	55,991	737	26,832	18,421	13,253	22,374	189,227

#### Figure 7. System total material content for representative molten salt power tower plant.

The two biggest contributors to a heliostat field (based on the design used in C. Turchi et al. (2015)) are the carbon steel (which is then zinc galvanized) used for the heliostat support structures (16,584 MT) and the glass used for the heliostats (10,055 MT). Table 4 shows the estimated weight in MT of the glass and steel for the heliostat fields, based on the bill of materials (BOM) for the commercial and advanced designs. For the Stellio (commercial) design, we compared steel estimates against the NREL analysis, with estimates taken from the Kumul Dongfang (sbp 2022). For the SunRing (advanced) design, we used the manufactured components for the estimate. The MT of the glass for the heliostats is estimated from the number of heliostats and the density of low-iron glass (2,500 kg/m<sup>3</sup>) (General Glass 2022; WGR 2011).

able 4. Material Weight E: الم	timates for Prior Analysis and	d Commercial/Advanced Designs
--------------------------------	--------------------------------	-------------------------------

Material/Plant Area	Prior Analysis (MT)	Commercial Design (MT)	Advanced Design (MT)	References
Glass	10,055	10,786	10,800	(Kurup et al. 2022) (General Glass 2022; WGR 2011)
Steel	16,584	13,343	17,443	(Kurup et al. 2022) (sbp 2022)

#### 4.2 Material Value and Embodied Domestic Jobs

Table 5 shows the Turchi et. al 2015 analysis updated to 2020 numbers, as well as the recent heliostat commercial and advanced field analyses. In Table 5, the estimated value is calculated based on the key materials for the heliostat field (such as the carbon steel, copper, silver, aluminum, and glass). The estimated value of the sector in Table 5 is determined by the overall annual production of the sector (MT) and the average price of the material in that year. The dollar value of the primary materials in the plants is estimated based on market prices for the different commodities, estimated annual production, and the percentage of the U.S. production of that material in 2020; the estimate also assumes that U.S. components are used for a CSP plant. These values are obtained from various sources, including the United States Geological Survey

(USGS) yearbook and reports, online commodity brokers (for cross-checking), and public reports. In addition, we estimate the fraction of the U.S. domestic supply represented by the mass required in each nominal 100-MW<sub>e</sub> plant, and the commercial and advanced heliostat fields from the recent bottom-up analysis. For example, if a commercial heliostat field is built in the United States, based on the annual glass production, this could equal ~0.05% of the existing U.S. capacity in 2020. This is not meant to suggest that the heliostat manufacturing capacity for the 100-MW<sub>e</sub> plant is ready and available in the United States, but that the material content and associated economic value could benefit the United States.

Turchi et. al 2015 Analysis, Material	Modeled Salt Power Tower (MT)	Annual U.S. Production (MT) in 2020	Percent of U.S. Production (%) in 2020	Estimated Value of the Sector in 2020 (\$B)	Estimated Value of Material in the Molten Salt Plant in 2020 (\$)	Sources
Carbon Steel, Iron, and Zinc	28,107	72,700,000	0.03866%	91.0	\$35,182,077	(USGS 2022)
Copper (Refinery Primary)	427	874,000	0.04886%	5.4	\$2,635,820	(USGS 2022)
Silver (Refinery Primary)	1	1,420	0.07042%	1.0	\$725,939	(USGS 2022)
Aluminum (Primary*)	287	1,012,000	0.02836%	2.0	\$567,194	(USGS 2022)
Crushed Stone and Gravel	46,889	1,470,000,0 00	0.00319%	18.4	\$588,396	(USGS 2022)
Recent Heliostat	Metric	Annual U.S.	Percent of	Estimate d Value	Estimated Value of	
Analysis, Material	Tons (MT)	(MT) in 2020	0.S. Production (%) in 2020	of Sector in 2020 (\$B)	Material in Heliostat Field in 2020 (\$)	Sources
Glass, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field	<b>Tons</b> (MT) 10,055	20,000,000	0.5. Production (%) in 2020 0.05028%	of Sector in 2020 (\$B) 25.0	Material in Heliostat Field in 2020 (\$) \$12,568,750	Sources (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021)
Analysis, Material Glass, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field Commercial Design, Glass	Tons (MT) 10,055 10,786	20,000,000 20,000,000	0.05028%	of Sector in 2020 (\$B) 25.0 25.0	Material in Heliostat Field in 2020 (\$) \$12,568,750 \$13,482,500	Sources (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021)
Analysis, Material Glass, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field Commercial Design, Glass Advanced Design, Glass	Tons (MT) 10,055 10,786 10,800	Production (MT) in 2020         20,000,000         20,000,000         20,000,000	0.05028%	of Sector in 2020 (\$B) 25.0 25.0 25.0	Material in Heliostat Field in 2020 (\$)           \$12,568,750           \$13,482,500           \$13,500,000	Sources (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021)
Analysis, Material Glass, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field Commercial Design, Glass Advanced Design, Glass Steel, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field	Tons (MT) 10,055 10,786 10,800 16,584	Production (MT) in 2020         20,000,000         20,000,000         20,000,000         72,700,000	U.S.         Production         (%) in 2020         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%	of Sector in 2020 (\$B) 25.0 25.0 25.0 91.0	Material in         Heliostat Field         in 2020 (\$)         \$12,568,750         \$13,482,500         \$13,500,000         \$20,758,514	Sources (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (USGS 2022)
Analysis, Material Glass, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field Commercial Design, Glass Steel, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field Commercial Design, Steel	Tons (MT)         10,055         10,786         10,800         16,584         13,343	Production (MT) in 2020           20,000,000           20,000,000           20,000,000           72,700,000           72,700,000	U.S.         Production         (%) in 2020         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%         0.05028%	of Sector in 2020 (\$B) 25.0 25.0 25.0 91.0 91.0	Material in Heliostat Field in 2020 (\$)         \$12,568,750         \$13,482,500         \$13,500,000         \$20,758,514         \$16,701,692	Sources (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (Hasanbei gi et al. 2021) (USGS 2022) (USGS 2022)

Table 5. Molten Salt Power Tower Analysis and Recent Heliostat Analysis Estimated Values

For U.S. heliostat fields that were constructed in the United States, Table 6 shows the direct and indirect jobs related to the most common materials for the molten salt power tower plant, and the heliostat field based on the commercial and advanced designs. This assumes the sourcing and manufacture of the key commodity materials, such as carbon steel, copper, and aluminum, are from the United States. The estimated jobs per sector were taken from sources such as market reports and the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). Then, direct and indirect jobs at the plant and component level can be estimated using labor multipliers, for example from C. Turchi et al. (2015).

# Table 6. Jobs Associated With Key Materials in a Molten Salt Power Tower Plant and RecentAnalysis

Turchi et. al 2015 Analysis, Material	Modeled Salt Power Tower (MT)	Estimated Jobs in Sector in 2020	Direct Jobs per Plant Based on the MT of Material Produced in 2020	Indirect Jobs per Plant in 2020	Sources
Carbon Steel, Iron and Zinc	28,107	72,230	28	114	(IBIS World 2022; BLS 2021c)
Copper (Mines and Mills)	427	11,000	5	20	(Statista 2022b)
Silver (Mines and Mills)	1	1,180	1	4	(Statista 2022a)
Aluminum (Primary*)	287	57,273	16	65	(IBIS World 2021a; BLS 2021c)
Crushed Stone and Gravel	46,889	86,586	3	3	(NSSGA 2021)
Recent Heliostat Analysis, Material	Metric Tons (MT)	Estimated Jobs in Sector in 2020	Direct Jobs per Field Based on the MT of Material Produced in 2020	Indirect Jobs per Field in 2020	Sources
Glass, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field	10,055	87,850	44	47	(IBIS World 2021b; BLS 2021a)
Commercial Design, Glass	10,786	87,850	47	47	(IBIS World 2021b; BLS 2021a)
Advanced Design, Glass	10,800	87,850	47	47	(IBIS World 2021b; BLS 2021a)
Steel, in Turchi et al. 2015 Heliostat Field	16,584	72,230	16	68	(BLS 2021a; 2021c)
Commercial Design, Steel	13,343	72,230	13	54	(BLS 2021a; 2021c)
Advanced Design, Steel	17,443	72,230	17	71	(BLS 2021a; 2021c)

#### 4.3 Heliostat Glass Suppliers

Relatively few comprehensive data sets exist regarding the CSP supply chain, especially with respect to producers of specialty CSP components (e.g., parabolic trough receiver tubes, mirrors, and reflective films). Similarly, there is no comprehensive heliostat database (e.g., flat glass producers, frame manufacturers, and drives) for the heliostat supply chain. Recent work by the World Bank has helped highlight some of the key heliostat manufactures and suppliers.

Key global suppliers of CSP mirror glass for heliostats are Flabeg Solar, Guardian Glass, Rioglass, and Cosin Solar. Table 7 shows the main heliostat suppliers today; Germany, Spain, and the United States are the biggest suppliers. Table 7 has been developed using key work from the World Bank (World Bank 2021) and NREL research. The table is not exhaustive, but it looks to understand the biggest heliostat mirror providers and the main references. We note that, for Siemens, the German company that has been a glass manufacturer for parabolic troughs (e.g., the Lebrija 1 plant (World Bank 2021)), we have not found the necessary data to add them the heliostat and mirror supplier table in Table 7. Saint-Gobain, a very large glass manufacturer, also has few current references for heliostat manufacture. At present, the German Aerospace Center's (DLR's) Jülich test site in Germany is the known reference for the use of Saint-Gobain Solar Glass (Saint-Gobain 2010).

Component/ Industry	Key Suppliers	Country Where Manufacturing Is Located	Heliostat Project References	Power Tower Type	Sources
	AGC Glass Europe	Europe, e.g., Germany and Spain	Ashalim Plot B/ Megalim (Israel)	Direct steam	(SolarPACES and NREL 2021c; AGC Glass Europe 2022; Thor 2020)
	Cosin Solar/Damin Glass	China	Supcon Solar (China)	Molten salt	(CosinSolar 2018; SolarPACES and NREL 2021d)
			Gonghe (China)	Molten salt	(CosinSolar 2020; SolarPACES and NREL 2021b)
		Germany (and U.S. prior*)	Crescent Dunes (U.S.)	Molten salt	(World Bank 2021)
	Flabeg Solar		Sierra SunTower (U.S.)	Direct steam	(World Bank 2021)
			Hami (China)	Molten salt	(Keck et al. 2019)
Mirror			Redstone (South Africa)	Molten salt	(World Bank 2021; HelioCSP 2022)
	Guardian	Unites States	Gemasolar (Spain)	Molten salt	(World Bank 2021)
			Ivanpah (U.S.)	Direct steam	(World Bank 2021)
	Rioglass Solar	Belgium, Spain and South Africa (and U.S. prior*)	Noor III (Morocco)	Molten Salt	(World Bank 2021)
			Noor Energy 1 (UAE)	Molten salt	(Reve 2020)
			Khi Solar 1 (South Africa)	Direct steam	(Rioglass Solar 2021)
			Atacama 1 (Chile)	Molten salt	(Rioglass Solar 2021; SolarPACES and NREL 2021a)
	Saint-Gobain	Europe e.g., France and Germany	Jülich (Germany)	Air tower	(Saint-Gobain 2010; DLR 2020)

Table 7. Key Mirror Glass Suppliers for Heliostats Globally

### 4.4 Global Heliostat Developers, EPCs, and Key Suppliers

U.S. heliostat developers include BrightSource Energy, Heliogen, 24/7 Solar, and Solar Dynamics (World Bank 2021; Kurup et al. 2022; Heliogen 2022). The key global heliostat developers include Sener (Spain), Abengoa Solar (Spain), sbp (Germany), Cosin Solar (formerly Supcon Solar, China), and Vast Solar (Australia) (World Bank 2021; Vast Solar 2014; SolarPACES 2020; Zhifeng 2019; Cosin Solar 2021).

Depending on the size of the heliostat developer, the step after manufacturing will be the installation, normally via an engineering procurement and construction (EPC) company. The main CSP EPC companies include Worley Parsons, Acciona, Abengoa Solar, Bechtel, Cosin Solar, and Shanghai Electric (World Bank 2021; PR Newswire 2018; SolarPACES and NREL 2021d).

Figure 8 shows the CSP heliostat supply chain. Table 8 shows some of the largest U.S. and foreign suppliers of heliostat raw materials through to integrators along the heliostat supply chain that are operating or potentially able to operate in the United States. Figure 8 and Table 8 are adapted from prior works (Chung, Horowitz, and Kurup 2016; C. Turchi et al. 2015), and are extended in this work.





Primary Raw Materials	Sample Raw Material Suppliers	CSP Heliostat Components	CSP Component Suppliers	CSP Integrators/ Developers	References
Steel and Stainless Steel	<ul> <li>Nucor</li> <li>U.S. Steel</li> <li>AK Steel</li> <li>Commercial Metals</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Solar field frame and heliostat structures</li> <li>Drives</li> <li>Pipes</li> <li>Structures</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Various local manufacturers could fabricate steel heliostat components</li> <li>Titan Trackers</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Heliogen (U.S.)</li> <li>BrightSource Energy (U.S.)</li> <li>Worley Parsons (U.S.)</li> <li>Bechtel (U.S)</li> <li>Acciona (Spain)</li> <li>Abengoa Solar (Spain)</li> <li>Sener (Spain)</li> </ul>	(World Bank 2021) (Kurup et al. 2022) (Thomas Publishing Company 2022b)
Aluminum	<ul> <li>Alcoa</li> <li>Century Aluminum</li> <li>Kaiser Aluminum</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Cladding and solar field components</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Alcoa</li> <li>Century Aluminum</li> <li>Kaiser Aluminum</li> </ul>		(Thomas Publishing Company 2022a)

#### Table 8. Key Suppliers and Developers in the U.S. Heliostat Supply Chain

Primary Raw Materials	Sample Raw Material Suppliers	CSP Heliostat Components	CSP Component Suppliers	CSP Integrators/ Developers	References
	Arconic				
Glass	<ul> <li>Guardian</li> <li>Flabeg Solar</li> <li>Saint- Gobain</li> <li>Rioglass</li> </ul>	Mirrors and facets	<ul> <li>Guardian</li> <li>Flabeg Solar</li> <li>Saint-Gobain</li> <li>Rioglass</li> <li>AGC Europe</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>3M (U.S.)</li> <li>Guardian (U.S.)</li> <li>Flabeg (Germany)</li> <li>Rioglass Solar (Spain)</li> <li>sbp (Germany)</li> </ul>	(Industry Select 2020; IBIS World 2021b)
Silver	<ul> <li>Glencore</li> <li>Newmont</li> <li>Southern Copper Corp.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Backing of heliostat facets</li> <li>Reflectors</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>3M (U.S.)</li> <li>Guardian (U.S.)</li> <li>Flabeg (Germany)</li> <li>Rioglass Solar (Spain)</li> <li>sbp (Germany)</li> </ul>	(Kay 2018)
Copper	<ul> <li>Rio Tinto</li> <li>Glencore</li> <li>BHP</li> <li>Freeport McMoRan</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Wiring</li> <li>Cables</li> <li>Reflectors</li> <li>Power systems</li> </ul>		<ul> <li>3M (U.S.)</li> <li>Guardian (U.S.)</li> <li>Flabeg (Germany)</li> <li>Rioglass Solar (Spain)</li> <li>sbp (Germany)</li> </ul>	(Mining Technology 2022)
Concrete, Crushed Gravel, Rock	Suppliers     nationwide	Foundations			

This list is an attempt to show some of the key potential suppliers for commodity materials needed for heliostat component production. Until further detailed investigations are conducted, including extensive collaboration with CSP developers, it is unlikely that a more exact list of material and component suppliers—and their manufacturing capacities—can be determined for U.S. heliostats. At the time of this writing, the United States has no local content requirements for CSP components, plants, or heliostat fields. Although many CSP components and raw materials are readily available from U.S. sources, discussions with industry and heliostat developers such as sbp and Solar Dynamics indicate that importing certain items may prove more cost effective. For example, Solar Dynamics expects to use Chinese glass transported to the United States via shipping containers for heliostat facets for U.S. projects. Still, many materials

are likely sourced domestically. For example, in developing the CSP parabolic trough Solana project (250 MW), Abengoa Solar estimated that 73% of the equipment supplied was of U.S. origin (Chung, Horowitz, and Kurup 2016).

### 5 CSP and Heliostat Challenges

CSP for electricity and heat faces many challenges in the United States and globally. In this section, we look at the main heliostat challenges along with broader CSP challenges. These challenges include the technology's large effective scale, high complexity and cost, inconsistent annual manufacturing for CSP components and systems, and uncertain near-term growth prospects. Heliostat manufacturing and deployment follows the annual demand and build-out of CSP power towers in the United States and globally.

### 5.1 Large Scale, Complexity, and Cost

The most critical challenges to CSP deployment (both trough and tower technology) revolve around CSP's competition with conventional and other renewable generation technologies, and the implications for all-in system development and installation costs. Particularly compared with PV, CSP trough and power tower electricity systems are much more complex to develop, gain land permits for, design, construct, and operate. They also require a much larger minimum effective scale, generally 50–100 MW<sub>e</sub> (Xavier Lara 2021), than cost-effective residential PV systems, which can be as small as 3 kilowatts electric (kW<sub>e</sub>) for the residential benchmark (Ramasamy et al. 2021). This large scale and high complexity typically result in lengthier development cycles. Three years is the average construction time for power tower systems. For example, the Redstone 100-MW power tower plant in South Africa with 12 hours of TES is expected to be constructed in 31–36 months (Energy Trend 2022; SolarPACES 2022). Along with long development and construction timelines, CSP plants have much higher total CAPEX requirements for the project and system construction, and the energy they produce is higher cost

Global competition within the CSP power tower industry is characterized by a few very wellfunded companies or large parent companies that have created CSP firms focused on project development. Most CSP developers and EPCs (e.g., ACWA Power, BrightSource, Abengoa Solar, and Sener) are vertically integrated companies with capabilities ranging from R&D to EPC. The large capital requirements to develop and deploy power tower and heliostat technologies at commercial scale can bar new, disruptive energy startup companies. For example, the Redstone power tower project, which is in construction, is estimated to have a CAPEX of 11.6 billion South African rand (ZAR) (SolarPACES 2022); in U.S. dollars as of March 2022, this is approximately \$767M (XE 2022). By comparison, PV plants in the United States at the 100-MW<sub>e</sub> utility scale with single-axis tracking (for example) have an estimated installed cost of \$0.89 per watt, or approximately \$89M (Ramasamy et al. 2021).

Today's main specialty CSP and heliostat component manufacturers have developed expertise by leveraging existing core competencies of a parent company. For example, Schott has a long history in the glass industry, and with R&D support from the German government, has developed a leading position in CSP receiver tube manufacture. Flabeg was spun out of Flabeg GmbH, one of the biggest mirror and glass producers in Germany. These specialty manufacturers have typically developed processing and tooling in-house, and they generally do not purchase "turnkey" manufacturing lines from capital equipment suppliers, as is observed in the PV industry. As a result, knowledge flows in CSP component manufacturing are more restricted, potentially enhancing firms' ability to retain and fully capitalize on proprietary knowledge stocks, but also potentially restricting manufacturing capacity growth and scale-up.

#### 5.2 Volume and Precision Manufacturing for Heliostats

Heliostat manufacturing and assembly demands high precision of the components and high production volumes, which is a unique challenge compared to other high-volume tracking systems, such as utility-scale PV. For example, recent analysis assumed that for the commercial and advanced designs, a heliostat field of approximately 1.1 Mm<sup>2</sup> would be needed for a large CSP power tower plant (Kurup et al. 2022). Although CSP power tower systems, which include heliostat costs, have been decreasing (World Bank 2021), high manufacturing capacities and greater expertise are needed in different countries for cost reductions to continue. For a sufficiently large project—such as the 450-MW<sub>e</sub> Likana CSP project in Chile, which put a bid into the auction at \$0.04/kWh—high-volume manufacturing and quality controls, commodity production of goods (such as automotive glass) can decrease costs due to amortization of equipment, standardization of parts, and improvements in the manufacturing process. Heliostat manufacturers and developers (e.g., sbp for the Stellio heliostat) have yet to repeatedly manufacture and deploy millions of heliostats. As such, the high-volume manufacturing needed for heliostats is still in its infancy.

In the United States, there is no specific heliostat manufacturing capacity from dedicated heliostat manufacturing facilities. Heliostats can be manufactured in the United States—such as for the Ivanpah project, where CSP developers contracted with existing metal and glass suppliers in the United States—but companies still need to build permanent or temporary manufacturing facilities where heliostat facets, structures, and components can be produced. It is important to note that a Flabeg glass facility in Naugatuck, Connecticut, was shut down in 2021 (Branch 2021; Klein 2021).

#### 5.3 Inconsistent Annual Demand and Pipeline

For specialty manufacturers serving the sector, the high minimum scale for generating systems creates particular challenges. Demand can be volatile due to the small size of the CSP industry, the lengthy development cycles, and the large project sizes relative to the total market size. This volatility is reflected in the year-on-year total industry growth rates shown in Figure 9. As seen in Figure 9, the annual year-on-year global installed capacity growth from 2009 to 2017 decreased significantly, with a large resurgence of installations in 2018 and a subsequent drop in 2019 and 2020. The industry installs small numbers of large-capacity projects on an inconsistent basis, making manufacturing capacity planning, scale-up, and efficient operation difficult.

Looking ahead to 2030, the International Energy Agency (IEA) estimates that approximately 6.7 GW of CSP capacity is needed every year from 2020 to 2030 (IEA 2021)—about 67 GW of new installed capacity by the end of the decade—to keep on track with the IEA Net Zero scenario. In 2020, approximately 0.2 GW was installed (IEA 2021), and approximately 0.1 GW came on line in 2021 (REN21 2021), for a total of about 0.3 GW in the last 2 years. In 2020, nearly 0.3 GW of power tower systems were being constructed (REN21 2021). This low annual global demand and the inconsistent pipeline make it difficult to build and operate manufacturing facilities, which are best suited to consistent demand to utilize the facility fully.



Figure 9. Year-on-year global annual installed capacity for the CSP industry. Data from BNEF Desktop Portal 2021 (BNEF 2021)

#### 5.4 Global Supply Chain Disruptions

Global events and the interconnectedness of today's economies and supply chains have had significant impacts on the cost of commodities, access to materials, and deployment of renewable energy technologies such as wind, PV, and CSP. For example, COVID-19 led to construction delays for plants already being built (REN21 2021) and postponement of plants that were due to start construction. Although supply chains were disrupted in many countries, solar PV in 2020 still had the largest renewable energy capacity increase in the world, at an additional 139 GW (REN21 2021). CSP was negatively affected, as very few plants were finished in 2020 (only 100 MW<sub>e</sub>).

The COVID-19 supply chain impacts and labor restrictions led to labor shortfalls in countries such as China, South Africa, and UAE (REN21 2021), where CSP plants were in construction in 2020. In Chile, although delayed by the pandemic, the Cerro Dominador 110-MW<sub>e</sub> plant with 17 hours of TES was able to continue construction in 2020 (Chamberlain 2020). Discussions with CSP suppliers in 2021 highlighted that the price of shipping in 2020 and 2021 went up four times, to nearly \$8,000 per 40-foot (ft) container. Other sources similarly highlighted that a 40-ft container was approximately \$8,400 in 2021 and had quadrupled in price compared to 2020 (Menapace 2021). Depending on the location of destination, that figure increased to approximately \$12,000 for containers coming from China in 2021. In 2021, the container price to the United States from China was at nearly \$20,000 (Khasawneh and Xu 2021). At present, shipping container costs to the United States have decreased to more reasonable ranges of \$2,700–\$4,200 per 40-ft container (Container Xchange 2021).

A more recent global supply chain disruption has been the Russian war with Ukraine. For example, in 2021, the United States imported nearly 7.9% of its crude oil and petroleum products from Russia (Eaton 2022). In 2022, the United States decided to ban Russian crude oil and petroleum products (Eaton 2022), which could further increase fuel prices and shipping and

transport costs, potentially leading to increased project costs. The war in Ukraine is also having global impact on key CSP commodities, such as steel. With Russia and Ukraine being large steel exporters (second after China), global markets are seeing increases in steel and nickel prices. For example, in Europe, the price of hot-rolled-coil (HRC) steel has increased by nearly 40%, while in the United States, HRC steel prices have increased by about 8% (Halaschak 2022).

#### 5.5 Uncertain U.S. and Global Growth Prospects

For U.S.-based manufacturing, the potential lack of a steady, large, near-term (e.g., 2022–2030) domestic market for the electricity sector is also a formidable challenge. Without significant development or establishment of a U.S. pipeline for CSP electricity projects, it is unlikely that U.S. firms will set up manufacturing facilities for heliostat components (e.g., drives, mirrors, and steel structures). To be profitable, manufacturing facilities require high CAPEX and sufficient amortization of the product. In the global CSP landscape at present, without a short-term pipeline of several hundred MWs to GWs of development and installation capacity (Sayles 2021), automated manufacturing facilities, economies of scale, and cost reductions through deployment and innovation are unlikely.

The largest U.S. CSP power tower projects from 2014 to 2021 have been cancelled, postponed, or abandoned. This includes the Palen Solar Holdings 500-MW<sub>e</sub> plant, which was reduced in scope from a two-tower plant to a one-tower plant and then was scrapped (Parnell 2014). With the molten salt tank issues and bankruptcy and insolvency of SolarReserve in the United States (Wesoff 2020), projects that were being developed such as the Rice Solar Energy project (150 MW<sub>e</sub>) and the Sandstone project (proposed as 2,000 MW<sub>e</sub>) have also been cancelled or had their federal permits revoked (Renewables Now 2019). The rapidly declining cost of PV in the last decade has also impacted CSP acceptance and deployment. This has been a major factor in influencing several large projects to transition from CSP to PV technologies (Mark Mehos et al. 2016).

When CSP is considered from a global perspective, particularly if the deployment of the technology is on pace for meeting the 1.5°C goal, recent data highlights a negative trend. CSP as a globally deployed electricity generation technology is lagging, and the pace of deployment is unlikely to be sufficient by 2030 (IEA 2021). As mentioned earlier, ~6.7 GW of CSP capacity installation per year until 2030 is needed to stay on track to meet the global CSP goal and, in turn, meet the 1.5°C goal. This is tied to the global growth rate of CSP, which has been slowing down relative to the global expansion of PV. In the United States alone, in just the first quarter of 2021, nearly 4.9  $GW_{DC}^{-1}$  of PV was deployed (Feldman, Wu, and Margolis 2021), compared to 6.3 GW of CSP installed globally by 2021 (World Bank 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Note that to utilize and operate 4.0 GW of alternating current (AC) PV, 4.9 GW of direct current (DC) PV must be installed due to the inverters that convert the DC electricity to AC electricity for the grid.

### **6 Opportunities**

#### 6.1 Near-Term Global and Long-Term U.S. Growth Potential

Although near-term capacity expansion for CSP is currently lagging, there is near- to mid-term global market potential (e.g., to 2030), and long-term (e.g., to 2050) U.S. potential for CSP electricity deployment. The global trend also indicates CSP being built alongside PV plants.

CSP projects are currently being built in South Africa, Morocco, UAE, and China (World Bank 2021; Energy Trend 2022). Within other parts of Africa, there have been tender notices for CSP. These include  $2x100 \text{ MW}_e$  in Botswana, where the tender is open until April 2022 (RenewAfrica Biz 2022), and a planned tender of up to 130 MW<sub>e</sub> in Namibia (Energy and Utilities 2021).

Spain, the current global leader in terms of installed capacity (2.3 GW), aims to allocate 200 MW<sub>e</sub> for CSP in 2022 (Molina 2021). As part of the Spanish National Integrated Energy and Climate Plan (PNIEC), there is potential to increase its CSP installed capacity to 7.3 GW by 2030 (Reuters Events 2021), although at present, the tenders specifically for CSP seem to be lagging. China is another emerging CSP market that has the potential to be the world leader by 2030, with potential installed capacities ranging from 15 to 30 GW (Wantenaar 2022; Zhang, Dong, and Li 2021). Similar to UAE or Morocco, CSP plants are being planned along with PV plants in China, although with PV, wind and CSP plants are being tendered and constructed at an increased scale. 1-GW complexes are being tendered for, typically with 100 MW<sub>e</sub> for CSP (Wantenaar 2022).

The most recent "Solar Futures Study" released by DOE (Ardani et al. 2021) had key core scenarios that explored future energy scenarios within the United States to determine how technology costs, electricity demand, carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emission reduction policies, and demand flexibility will impact future electricity generation and storage. The key results of the three main scenarios investigated are summarized in Table 9. The Decarbonization (Decarb) scenario utilizes the advanced ATB cost projections (PV and CSP) and assumes an aggressive 95% reduction in grid CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from 2005 levels by 2035 and a 100% reduction by 2050. The Decarb+E scenario further assumes increased end-use electrification, such as charging EVs, as described in the high electrification scenario of the NREL "Electrification Futures Study" (EFS) (Mai et al. 2018). It also assumes demand-side flexibility to shift loads, as described in the EFS enhanced demand flexibility case.

As seen in Table 9, even in the Reference scenario, nearly 380 GW of solar could be installed with a reduction in emissions of 45%. This highlights that wind and solar (PV) without aggressive cost reductions would still account for a large increase in renewable energy capacity and decreased emissions based on current growth and policies. In the Reference scenario, which assumes existing policies, no additional CSP is deployed in the United States, and existing CSP capacity retires by 2050. With the Biden administration's aggressive goals of a decarbonized electric grid by 2035, the Decarb scenario highlights a necessary doubling in PV to 760 GW (Ardani et al. 2021). This has the potential to lead to 500,000–1,500,000 direct and indirect solar PV jobs by 2035 (Ardani et al. 2021).

Scenario	Potential GW of Solar Deployed by 2035 Deployed by 2		Emissions Reductions by 2035
Reference	380	670	-45%
Decarbonization of the grid by 95% in terms of emissions by 2035 (Decarb)	760	1,050	-95%
Decarbonization with electrification (Decarb+E)	1,000	1,570	-105%

Table 9. Key Summary Results From the Solar Futures Study

CSP is deployed at the greatest capacity under the Decarb scenario, with new deployments starting after 2035 and reaching 39 GW<sub>e</sub> by 2050 (Augustine, Turchi, and Mehos 2022). Due to the value to the grid and dispatch capabilities (M. Mehos et al. 2015) and by hitting low cost targets, CSP could be between 35–158 GW by 2050 in the United States (Murphy et al. 2019). CSP could potentially supply 3%–16% of generation in the United States under aggressive cost reductions (Murphy et al. 2019).

Cost reductions are needed for significant change in the deployment trajectory of CSP compared to the Reference scenario. Here, we use the ATB 2022 projections to highlight the cost reductions that could be achieved through R&D, increased deployment, and other institutional efforts (NREL 2022a). Table 10 shows that in the Base scenario, the CSP power tower overnight cost of capital (OCC) is \$6,242/kWe. In the Moderate and Advanced scenarios, the potential projected CSP OCCs are \$4,069/kWe and \$3,163/kWe, respectively, by 2035 (assuming CSP power tower costs continue to decline globally). Note that in the 2022 ATB, the OCC does not include the grid connection or the construction finance leading to the CAPEX.

ATB 2022 Scenario	Year	Turbine Capital Cost (\$/kW <sub>e</sub> )	Storage Capital Cost (\$/kW <sub>e</sub> )	Field Capital Cost (\$/kW <sub>e</sub> )	ATB 2022 OCC (\$/kW₀)	ATB 2022 CAPEX (\$/kW <sub>e</sub> )
Base	2020	1,910	767	3,566	6,242	6,505
Moderate	2035	1,242	499	2,318	4,059	4,230
Advanced	2035	965	388	1,802	3,155	3,288
Moderate	2050	1,143	459	2,135	3,737	3,894
Advanced	2050	814	327	1,519	2,659	2,771

Table 10. Overnight Cost of Capital (OCC) and CAPEX From ATB 2022 Projections in 2035 and2050

#### 6.2 U.S. Innovation and Funding Landscape

Looking at the U.S. market and economy, there are structural advantages that can be leveraged for CSP and heliostat deployment. The United States typically has low industrial electricity prices, high automation capabilities, and a trained manufacturing workforce. This can make the production of advanced components competitive in the United States. (Reese et al. 2018;

Horowitz, Remo, and Reese 2017). Even though labor costs tend to be high relative to areas like China, commodity products, such as automotive glass, are produced in high quantities in the United States, once there is sufficient local demand.

The national laboratory network and its continued expansion for innovations in the United States can be utilized to help spur CSP and heliostat deployment. HelioCon envisions bringing together global knowledge and research to bring down costs and solve assembly and installation issues with heliostats (NREL 2021c). HelioCon may also pursue further research to assess and evaluate the supply chain, which could also reduce future costs.

An important area to leverage in the United States is the highly liquid capital markets and the availability of funding and loans. Through DOE, for example, the Loan Programs Office (LPO) has already funded nearly \$35 billion of projects, and has helped launch the early stage PV and EV industries in the United States (Kennedy 2021). At present, with the likely relaunch and reuse of the LPO, there is nearly \$40 billion available for innovative and emerging technologies in different sectors, with nearly \$4.5 billion available for renewable energy and energy efficient technologies (Holland & Knight 2021; DOE 2020).

#### 6.3 Potential for Other Markets

The demand for industrial process heat (IPH) is, for the majority of processes, met through the combustion of fossil fuels. In the United States, nearly two-thirds of the demand for heat in industry is below 300°C (McMillan et al. 2021). CST is currently well suited for applications in industries such as food processing, dairies, petrochemical, and textiles. For example, in California, researchers found that the technical potential for CST is on the order of 23,000 terawatt hours (TWhth), compared to the 48 TWhth of thermal demand from the top five industrial sectors in the state (Kurup and Turchi 2015). All states have CST potential (e.g., with parabolic trough or linear Fresnel), and for nearly 30% of counties in the United States, more than 45% of the counties' load could be met with CST coupled with TES(McMillan et al. 2021). Recent modeling highlighted the use of a direct steam generation (DSG) system for providing steam for food processing (Akar et al. 2021).

In the United States, there are a few emerging CST players, although the largest power tower and heliostat developer is Heliogen. Outside the United States, Aalborg CSP, for example, has already built a power tower producing heat, desalinated water, steam, and electricity for a tomato farm in Australia (Aalborg CSP 2016). Power tower and heliostat-driven solutions for IPH are emerging. For example, the Barilla pasta factory in Italy will pilot a centrifugal ceramic particle receiver designed by DLR (Sayles 2020).

#### 6.4 Jobs and Domestic Content

In 2020, there were nearly 12 million jobs in the entire U.S. manufacturing sector (US Census 2020). As such, there is potential to develop CSP supply chains and jobs in the United States. With increased demand for heliostats and CSP power towers, it would be possible to set up more permanent supply chains and increase jobs in the industry. With the U.S. manufacturing experience, there could be a reutilization of supply chains and labor in similar markets. For example, with sufficient demand and opportunity, existing supply chains and trained labor could

be shifted toward the production of CSP components, and a heliostat supply chain could be developed.

Prior work has estimated that approximately 500 direct and indirect jobs could be associated with the construction of a 100-MW molten salt power plant with 6 hours of TES (C. Turchi et al. 2015). Based on the CSP capacity estimations from the "Solar Futures Study," the construction of 39 GW of CSP (assuming that it is mainly power tower and that ~500 jobs are created per 100 MW molten salt power tower plant with 6 hours of storage), the United States could have an estimated 195,000 CSP-related jobs (e.g., in manufacturing, construction, and O&M) by 2050. This does not include the longer-term jobs and economic impact (e.g., taxes from plant operations staff) from operating the plants once constructed. Table 11 shows the potential direct and indirect jobs for glass and steel (based on the analysis of the commercial and advanced designs in Kurup et al. (2022)) associated with the construction of 100 and 1,000 commercial and advanced design fields. One hundred heliostat fields would be suited for at least 100 power tower plants.

 Table 11. Potential Direct and Indirect Jobs for Constructing 100 and 1,000 Heliostat Fields

 Utilizing Current Analysis

Material/Area	Metric Tons of Material (MT) for Single Field	Direct and Indirect Potential Jobs for 100 Heliostat Fields	Direct and Indirect Potential Jobs for 1,000 Heliostat Fields	
Commercial Design, Glass	10,786	9,480	94,798	
Advanced Design, Glass	10,800	9,486	94,860	
Commercial Design, Steel	13,343	6,761	67,609	
Advanced Design, Steel	17,443	8,838	88,384	

### 7 Recommendations

In this section, we provide three recommendations based on this initial work and analysis.

# 7.1 Future Detailed Market, Manufacturing Capacity, and Economic Impact Analysis

An important next step will be to undertake further detailed analysis of the U.S. and global markets for heliostat components, manufacturers, and developers. This work should also consider aspects such as commodity price tracking (e.g., for steel and glass) to help determine factors that drive heliostat costs in the United States. This type of detailed analysis would help form the basis for a heliostat component, manufacturer, and developer database.

A core feature of the future study will be to evaluate the potential of higher-value U.S. manufacturing that could be developed and the value retained, rather than the technology being imported. For example, in the bottom-up heliostat analysis (Kurup et al. 2022), discussions with heliostat developers highlighted that it would be likely that Chinese components for the mirror facets and steel structures would be utilized for a project in the United States, due to cost differentials and a lack of readily available U.S. heliostat facets.

Future analysis efforts should look at the economic value-add along the supply chains of heliostats and extraction technologies that feed into subsequent technologies, similar to the analysis that has been done for EVs and lithium-ion battery supply chains (Chung, Elgqvist, and Santhanagopalan 2016). More importantly, opportunities for investment, policies, and workforce training could be identified. The analysis would develop metrics such as direct jobs that could be created by growing manufacturing capacity to meet the local market or global export demands, and indirect associated jobs.

For CSP electricity deployment in the United States (e.g., with power towers) to meet the potential of 39 GW by 2050 (Augustine, Turchi, and Mehos 2022), analysis will be needed to determine existing U.S. manufacturing capacities for key components and structures, as well as gaps such as U.S. heliostat facet manufacturing. For example, Table 11 shows the material content needed based on the design; if 1,000 heliostat fields were constructed in the United States, it could lead to roughly 67,000–88,000 steel direct and indirect jobs. This next level of analysis would build upon efforts such as the Jobs and Economic Development Impact (JEDI) model and would help determine location effects. Although there is a CSP JEDI model for the trough (NREL 2008), at present, this work has not been done for a CSP power tower. The heliostat analysis, database, and the manufacturing capacity analysis would contribute to a future CSP Power Tower JEDI model.

Next, this future analysis would identify the regional benefits and impacts of developing important supply chains, and connect R&D to downstream deployments of the technology. Five main areas and impacts are highlighted for future efforts:

• Techno-economic analysis (TEA), including benchmarking of costs for current and future heliostats, and road-mapping through HelioCon. This effort would also connect with the bottom-up trough work (Kurup, Glynn, and Akar 2021) and look at how it can be leveraged for heliostats and linear Fresnel collectors.

- Life cycle analysis (LCA) for heliostats via different paths and impacts on the broader circular economy. This includes end-of-life issues and recycling (e.g., of steel and glass) to bring back the materials used into the U.S. supply chain.
- U.S. competitiveness, value addition, and jobs, including where investment is needed in both capacity expansion and key components. For power towers and heliostats, a model similar to the Parabolic Trough JEDI model (NREL 2008) can be developed.
- Supply chain mapping of existing and future heliostat paths and the crosscutting potential of heliostats in other sectors, including the use of existing supply chains through modification or labor retraining.
- Legal and regulatory framework and policy option analysis for manufacturing investments, CSP use, and environmental impacts.

#### 7.2 Development of a Heliostat Supply Chain Model

The installation of clean energy technologies and the development of new materials/technologies will lead to manufacturing supply chain competition and provide an opportunity for business growth. In a preliminary analysis, McCall (2020) developed a visualization of four clean energy manufacturing supply chains and their associated interactions, shown in Figure 10. The focus was on wind turbines, PV modules, light-emitting diode (LED) systems, and EV vehicle battery packs. It is worth noting that the thickness of the flow is representative of metrics such as the MT needed for a product. Each material flow (e.g., the raw materials needed) is based on a "recipe" or common BOM for an estimate of the materials and processes needed at each stage.



Figure 10. Material flow for clean energy supply chain example.

Although there is little overlap in the supply chains shown, adding more technologies like CSP heliostats will develop areas of supply chain interaction (e.g., steel and glass). We identified four areas of improvement to this initial analysis:

- 1. An interactive online supply chain map
- 2. A global manufacturer database for different products
- 3. Supply chain quantification using "recipes"<sup>2</sup> of clean energy technologies
- 4. Development of a supply chain impact and vulnerability tool.

At present, there is no heliostat supply chain model that directly models the material flow for heliostats. We recommend that a heliostat supply chain model be built that can incorporate at least one commercial heliostat recipe initially. The bottom-up heliostat analysis (Kurup et al. 2022) can form the basis for a generic commercial heliostat. From a material perspective, heliostat recipes based on different heliostat sizes should be created. This would include the materials, processed materials, and quantities needed for a heliostat field, as well as scenarios for multiples of heliostat fields.

As part of this analysis, it will be important to undertake detailed bottom-up analysis and obtain BOMs for heliostats of a variety of sizes to create different baselines. Once these baseline recipes are created, the data and information could be used with tools such as the Material Flow Through Industry (MFI), which allows manufacturing scenarios to be modeled to track the material and energy demands based on the processes used (NREL 2022b). Different scenarios can highlight the impact of changing upstream and downstream processes on the material and energy consumption of large heliostat fields.

Eventually, with development of the heliostat supply chain mapping tool and analyses, power tower supply chain mapping could be undertaken. In the future, the CSP supply chain mapping will also need to include parabolic trough, linear Fresnel, other CSP collectors and systems in the U.S. supply chain. With further success, non-concentrating solar thermal heating systems could also be explored.

### 7.3 Future CSP Supply Chain Modeling and Development Efforts

In response to Executive Order 14017 on American supply chains for the energy transition, DOE, other U.S. government departments, and national laboratories like NREL have been identifying and evaluating the U.S. supply chains (DOE 2022). As part of ongoing work with DOE, NREL will publish deep dive assessments for key technologies in the United States. Both PV and wind assessments have been published (Basore and Feldman 2022; Baranowski et al. 2022). Recent work has also looked at the offshore wind supply chain needs in the United States (Shields et al. 2022). This report represents the initial assessment of the U.S. and global heliostat supply chain, and further work is needed to improve the quantification of the CSP supply chain in the United States.

As future supply chain tools and models are built, it is important that CSP components (e.g., heliostats) and CSP supply chain models are incorporated. We propose that once heliostat and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The BOM from raw materials to components that are incorporated into a final clean energy product.

CSP system supply chain models are built, they should be integrated with existing or developing supply chain models that include PV, steam turbines, and other related clean energy technologies. This will help highlight the connections between elements of certain supply chains and the establishment of robust supply chains.

Heliostats are a good candidate for future addition to such an integrated supply chain model due to the potential for having mass-produced components, such as steel structures and mirrors. Incorporating heliostats will shed light on:

- Near-term manufacturing opportunities in the global market; mid- and long-term opportunities for domestic markets
- Simple supply chain and components

Jobs and economic impacts in states like California, Arizona, and Nevada, where CSP (both tower and trough) has already been developed and constructed.

### References

- Aalborg CSP. 2016. "36.6MWth Integrated Energy System Based on CSP, Australia." Aalborgcsp.Com. 2016. https://www.aalborgcsp.com/projects/integrated-energysystems/366mwth-integrated-energy-system-based-on-csp-australia.
- AGC Glass Europe. 2022. "Energy Generating Products." AGC Glass Europe. 2022. https://www.agc-glass.eu/en/sustainability/environment-friendly-products/energygenerating-products.
- Akar, Sertac, Parthiv Kurup, Joshua McTigue, Jordan Cox, Scott Belding, Colin McMillan, Travis Lowder, and Samuel Baldwin. 2021. "Renewable Thermal Energy Systems Designed for Industrial Process Solutions in Multiple Industries." In *ISES Concenference Proceedings*, 1–12. Virtual: International Solar Energy Society. https://doi.org/10.18086/swc.2021.29.01.
- Ardani, Kristen, Paul Denholm, Trieu Mai, Robert Margolis, Eric O'Shaughnessy, Timothy Silverman, and Jarett Zuboy. 2021. "Solar Futures Study." National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2021-09/Solar%20Futures%20Study.pdf.
- Augustine, Chad, Craig Turchi, and Mark Mehos. 2022. "The Role of Concentrating Solar-Thermal Technologies in a Decarbonized U.S. Grid." NREL/TP-5700-80574. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1820100.
- Baranowski, Ruth, Aubryn Cooperman, Patrick Gilman, and Eric Lantz. 2022. "Wind Energy -Supply Chain Deep Dive Assessment." DOE. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-
  - 02/Wind%20Supply%20Chain%20Report%20-%20Final%202.25.22.pdf.
- Basore, Paul, and David Feldman. 2022. "Solar Energy Supply Chain Report Final.Pdf." DOE. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-
  - 02/Solar%20Energy%20Supply%20Chain%20Report%20-%20Final.pdf.
- BLS. 2021a. "OEWS Data." Bureau of Labor Statistics. 2021.

https://www.bls.gov/oes/tables.htm.

- —. 2021b. "Occupational Employment and Wage Statistics Arizona and California Construction Laborers." Bureau of Labor Statistics. May 2021.
  - https://data.bls.gov/oes/#/occGeo/One%20occupation%20for%20multiple%20geographic al%20areas.
- BNEF. 2021. "New Energy Outlook 2020 Data Viewer: Power." BloombergNEF.
- Branch, Alfred. 2021. "Nearly 3 Dozen Jobs Lost When Naugatuck Plant Closes: Report." Patch. December 6, 2021. https://patch.com/connecticut/naugatuck/nearly-3-dozen-jobs-lost-when-naugatuck-plant-closes-report.
- Business Wire. 2021. "EIG-Owned Cerro Dominador Inaugurates Concentrated Solar Power (CSP) Plant in Chile." Business Wire. June 8, 2021. https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20210608005202/en/EIG-Owned-Cerro-Dominador-Inaugurates-Concentrated-Solar-Power-CSP-Plant-in-Chile.
- Carey, Lachlan. 2021. "The U.S. Solar Industry Strategy." CSIS. December 1, 2021. https://www.csis.org/analysis/us-solar-industry-strategy.

- Chamberlain, Kerry. 2019. "Noor III Concentrated Solar power tower seen as 'tipping point' for financing costs." HELIOSCSP. May 22, 2019. https://helioscsp.com/noor-iii-concentrated-solar-power-tower-seen-as-tipping-point-for-financing-costs/.
  - ——. 2020. "Chile Builds CSP Plant through COVID-19 but Demand Risks Loom." Reuters Events. April 29, 2020. https://www.reutersevents.com/renewables/csp-today/chilebuilds-csp-plant-through-covid-19-demand-risks-loom.
- Chung, Donald, Emma Elgqvist, and Shriam Santhanagopalan. 2016. "Automotive Lithium-Ion Cell Manufacturing: Regional Cost Structures and Supply Chain Considerations." NREL/TP-6A20-66086. Golden, CO: NREL. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/66086.pdf.
- Chung, Donald, Kelsey Horowitz, and Parthiv Kurup. 2016. "On the Path to SunShot. Emerging Opportunities and Challenges in US Solar Manufacturing." National Renewable Energy Lab.(NREL), Golden, CO (United States). https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65788.pdf.
- Container Xchange. 2021. "How Much Do Shipping Containers Cost?" Container XChange. September 16, 2021. https://www.container-xchange.com/blog/shipping-container-price/.
- Cosin Solar. 2021. "Company Name Change Announcement." August 2021. http://tyn.cosinsolar.com/en/news/detail/id/10120.html.
- CosinSolar. 2018. "SUPCON Solar Delingha 50MW Molten Salt Tower CSP Plant." 2018. http://www.supconsolar.com/en/cases/detail/id/11.html.
  - ------. 2020. "POWERCHINA Gonghe 50MW Molten Salt Tower CSP Plant." 2020. http://www.supconsolar.com/en/cases/detail/id/12.html.
- DLR. 2020. "The Jülich Solar Towers: A Test Facility for Commercial Solar Thermal Power Plants." Dlr.De. 2020. https://www.dlr.de/sf/en/desktopdefault.aspx/tabid-8560/15527\_read-44867/.
- DOE. 2020. "Renewable Energy and Efficient Energy Loan Guarantees." DOE. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2020/01/f70/DOE-LPO-Renewable-Energy-Efficient-Energy-Jan2020.pdf.
- 2022. "DOE Releases First-Ever Comprehensive Strategy to Secure America's Clean Energy Supply Chain." Energy.Gov. February 24, 2022. https://www.energy.gov/articles/doe-releases-first-ever-comprehensive-strategy-secureamericas-clean-energy-supply-chain.
- DOE SETO. 2021a. "PROJECT PROFILE: Brayton Energy 1 (Gen3 CSP)." Energy.Gov. 2021. https://www.energy.gov/eere/solar/project-profile-brayton-energy-1-gen3-csp.
- -------. 2021b. "2030 Solar Cost Targets." Energy.Gov. August 13, 2021. https://www.energy.gov/eere/solar/articles/2030-solar-cost-targets.
- Eaton, Collin. 2022. "How Much Oil Does the U.S. Import From Russia and Why Did Biden Ban It?" *Wall Street Journal*, March 14, 2022, sec. Markets.
- https://www.wsj.com/articles/why-does-the-u-s-still-buy-russian-oil-11646151935.
- Energy and Utilities. 2021. "Namibia to Tender Large CSP Solar Project in 2022." Energy & Utilities. December 16, 2021. https://energy-utilities.com/namibia-to-tender-large-csp-solar-project-in-2022-news115709.html.
- Energy Trend. 2022. "Redstone CSP in South Africa Is Scheduled for Operation in October 2023." March 14, 2022. https://m.energytrend.com/news/20220314-27087.html.
- Feldman, David, Kevin Wu, and Robert Margolis. 2021. "H1 2021 Solar Industry Update." June 22. https://doi.org/10.2172/1808491.

General Glass. 2022. "Low-Iron Glass Data Sheet." General Glass. July 2022. https://www.generalglass.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/Low-Iron-Glass-Data-Sheet\_Final.pdf.

Halaschak, Zachary. 2022. "Steel Prices Increase against Backdrop of Russia's War in Ukraine." Washington Examiner. March 26, 2022. https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/policy/economy/steel-prices-increase-against-

backdrop-of-russias-war-in-ukraine.

Hasanbeigi, Ali, Lynn A Kirshbaum, Blaine Collison, and David Gardiner. 2021. "Electrifying U.S. Industry: A Technology- and Process-Based Approach to Decarbonization," January, 118.

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5877e86f9de4bb8bce72105c/t/6018bf7254023d49c e67648d/1612234656572/Electrifying+U.S.+Industry+2.1.21.pdf.

- Hasem, Heba. 2017. "CSP Tower Installation Costs Drop on Heliostat Innovations, Pre-Assembly." March 2017. https://www.reutersevents.com/renewables/csp-today/csptower-installation-costs-drop-heliostat-innovations-pre-assembly.
- HelioCSP. 2022. "New Concentrated Solar Power plant to be built in South Africa by 2023." HELIOSCSP. February 28, 2022. https://helioscsp.com/new-concentrated-solar-powerplant-to-be-built-in-south-africa-by-2023/.
- Heliogen. 2022. "Heliogen Announces New Southern California Manufacturing Facility." Heliogen. February 22, 2022. https://heliogen.com/heliogen-announces-new-southerncalifornia-manufacturing-facility/.
- Holland & Knight. 2021. "Innovation Is In Again: DOE Loan Programs Office Back at the Helm." JDSupra. September 15, 2021. https://www.jdsupra.com/legalnews/innovation-is-in-again-doe-loan-5151395/.
- Horowitz, Kelsey, Timothy Remo, and Samantha Reese. 2017. "A Manufacturing Cost and Supply Chain Analysis of SiC Power Electronics Applicable to Medium-Voltage Motor Drives." NREL/TP-6A20-67694. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1349212.
- IBIS World. 2021a. "Aluminum Manufacturing in the US Employment Statistics 2002–2027." July 20, 2021. https://www.ibisworld.com/default.aspx.
  - ——. 2021b. "Glass Product Manufacturing in the US Employment Statistics 2004–2027." July 20, 2021. https://www.ibisworld.com/default.aspx.
  - ———. 2022. "Iron & Steel Manufacturing in the U.S. Employment Statistics 2005 2028." February 18, 2022. https://www.ibisworld.com/default.aspx.
- IEA. 2021. "Concentrated Solar Power (CSP)." International Energy Association. 2021. https://www.iea.org/reports/concentrated-solar-power-csp.
- Igogo, Tsisilile A, Debra L Sandor, Ahmad T Mayyas, and Jill Engel-Cox. 2019. "Supply Chain of Raw Materials Used in the Manufacturing of Light-Duty Vehicle Lithium-Ion Batteries." NREL/TP-6A20-73374. Golden, CO: Joint Institute for Strategic Energy Analysis. https://doi.org/10.2172/1560124.
- Industry Select. 2020. "10 Largest Glass Manufacturers in the U.S.A." December 10, 2020. https://www.industryselect.com/blog/10-largest-glass-manufacturers-in-the-usa.
- IRENA. 2016. "The Power To Change: Solar And Wind Cost Reduction Potential To 2025." International Renewable Energy Agency. https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2016/IRENA Power to Change 2016.pdf.

- Kattke, Kyle. 2019. "The Drop-In, Ring-of-Power Heliostat." SETO CSP Program Summit 2019, March 19. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2019/04/f62/CSP%20Summit2019%20Solar% 20Dynamics%20Kattke%20DropC.pdf.
- Kay, Amanda. 2018. "3 Primary Silver Producers in the United States." InvestingNews. August 9, 2018. https://investingnews.com/daily/resource-investing/precious-metalsinvesting/silver-investing/3-primary-silver-producers-in-the-united-states/.
- Keck, Thomas, Markus Balz, Verena Göcke, Finn von Reeken, Fabian Gross, Willem Landman, Javier Collado, et al. 2019. "Hami – The First Stellio Solar Field." In AIP Conference Proceedings, 2126:030029. Morocco: AIP Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5117541.
- Kennedy, Ryan. 2021. "A Shift in Focus Is Coming for a DOE Loan Program." PV Magazine USA. October 14, 2021. https://pv-magazine-usa.com/2021/10/14/a-shift-in-focus-is-coming-for-a-doe-loan-program/.
- Khasawneh, Roslan, and Muyu Xu. 2021. "China-U.S. Container Shipping Rates Sail Past \$20,000 to Record." *Reuters*, August 5, 2021, sec. Business. https://www.reuters.com/business/china-us-container-shipping-rates-sail-past-20000-record-2021-08-05/.
- Klein, Liese. 2021. "German Firm to Shut down Naugatuck Glass Plant." Hartford Business Journal. December 9, 2021. https://www.hartfordbusiness.com/article/german-firm-to-shut-down-naugatuck-glass-plant.
- Kraemer, Susan. 2021. "Have Heliostat Cost Cuts Helped Likana Bid CSP Under 4 Cents?" SolarPACES. September 30, 2021. https://www.solarpaces.org/have-heliostat-cost-cutshelped-likana-bid-csp-under-4-cents/.
- Kurup, Parthiv, Sertaç Akar, Stephen Glynn, Chad Augustine, and Patrick Davenport. 2022. "Cost Update: Commercial and Advanced Heliostat Collectors." NREL/TP-7A40-80482. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy22osti/80482.pdf.
- Kurup, Parthiv, Stephen Glynn, and Sertaç Akar. 2021. "Manufacturing Cost Analysis of Advanced Parabolic Trough Collector: Preprint." In AIP Conference Proceedings. Albuquerque, New Mexico: NREL. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/77829.pdf.
- Kurup, Parthiv, and Craig Turchi. 2015. "Initial Investigation into the Potential of CSP Industrial Process Heat for the Southwest United States." NREL/TP-6A20-64709. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/64709.pdf.
- Lilliestam, Johan, and Robert Pitz-Paal. 2018. "Concentrating Solar Power for Less than USD 0.07 per KWh: Finally the Breakthrough?" *Renewable Energy Focus* 26 (September): 17–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ref.2018.06.002.
- Mai, Trieu T., Paige Jadun, Jeffrey S. Logan, Colin A. McMillan, Matteo Muratori, Daniel C. Steinberg, Laura J. Vimmerstedt, Benjamin Haley, Ryan Jones, and Brent Nelson. 2018.
  "Electrification Futures Study: Scenarios of Electric Technology Adoption and Power Consumption for the United States." NREL/TP-6A20-71500. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1459351.
- McCall, James. 2020. "CEMAC: Systems Analysis of Manufacturing Supply Chains." Manufacturing Clean Energy. August 8, 2020.
  - https://www.manufacturingcleanenergy.org/blog-20170808.html.
- McMillan, Colin, Carrie Schoeneberger, Jingyi Zhang, Parthiv Kurup, Eric Masanet, Robert Margolis, Steven Meyers, Mike Bannister, Evan Rosenlieb, and William Xi. 2021.

"Opportunities for Solar Industrial Process Heat in the United States." NREL/TP-6A20-77760. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Lab (NREL). https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/77760.pdf.

- Mehos, M., J. Jorgenson, P. Denholm, and C. Turchi. 2015. "An Assessment of the Net Value of CSP Systems Integrated with Thermal Energy Storage." *Energy Procedia* 69 (May): 2060–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2015.03.219.
- Mehos, Mark, Hank Price, Robert Cable, David Kearney, Bruce Kelly, Gregory Kolb, and Frederick Morse. 2020. "Concentrating Solar Power Best Practices Study." NREL/TP--5500-75763. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1665767.
- Mehos, Mark, Craig Turchi, Jennie Jorgenson, Paul Denholm, Clifford Ho, and Kenneth Armijo. 2016. "On the Path to SunShot: Advancing Concentrating Solar Power Technology, Performance, and Dispatchability." NREL/TP-5500-65688. EERE Publication and Product Library. https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65688.pdf.
- Mehos, Mark, Craig Turchi, Judith Vidal, Michael Wagner, Zhiwen Ma, Clifford Ho, William Kolb, Charles Andraka, and Alan Kruizenga. 2017. "Concentrating Solar Power Gen3 Demonstration Roadmap." NREL/TP--5500-67464. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1338899.
- Menapace, Brendan. 2021. "Container Shipping Prices Quadruple Compared to 2020, Delays Become the Norm." Promo Marketing. July 6, 2021. https://magazine.promomarketing.com/article/shipping-prices-quadruple-compared-to-2020-as-delays-become-the-new-norm/.
- Mining Technology. 2022. "Five Largest Copper Mines in US in 2020." April 6, 2022. https://www.mining-technology.com/marketdata/five-largest-copper-mines-the-us-2020/.
- Molina, Pilar Sanchez. 2021. "Spain to Hold 500 MW Renewables Auction on April 6." PV Magazine International. December 31, 2021. https://www.pvmagazine.com/2021/12/31/spain-to-hold-500-mw-renewables-auction-on-april-6/.
- Murphy, Caitlin, Yinong Sun, Wesley J. Cole, Galen J. Maclaurin, Mark S. Mehos, and Craig S. Turchi. 2019. "The Potential Role of Concentrating Solar Power within the Context of DOE's 2030 Solar Cost Targets." NREL/TP--6A20-71912. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1491726.
- NREL. 2008. "JEDI Concentrating Solar Power Model." National Renewable Energy Laboratory. 2008. https://www.nrel.gov/analysis/jedi/csp.html.
- \_\_\_\_\_. 2021b. "Download System Advisor Model (SAM)." 2021.
  - https://sam.nrel.gov/download.html.
- ------. 2021c. "Heliostat Consortium." NREL. 2021. https://www.nrel.gov/csp/heliocon.html.
- . 2022a. "2022 Annual Technology Baseline." 2022. https://atb.nrel.gov/.
- -------. 2022b. "Materials Flows through Industry Supply Chain Modeling Tool." 2022. https://www.nrel.gov/manufacturing/mfi-modeling-tool.html.
- NREL and SolarPACES. 2021. "Crescent Dunes Solar Energy Project." Concentrating Solar Power Projects. December 3, 2021. https://solarpaces.nrel.gov/project/crescent-dunessolar-energy-project.
- NSSGA. 2021. "Data by State." NSSGA. 2021. https://www.nssga.org/aggregate-resources/datastate.

- Pacific Green Technologies Group. 2021. "4 Keys to Winning in Spain's World-Leading Push for CSP." Pacific Green Technologies. 2021. https://www.pacificgreengroup.com/articles/4-keys-winning-spains-world-leading-push-csp.
- Parnell, John. 2014. "California's Palen 500MW CSP Project Scrapped." PV Tech. September 30, 2014. https://www.pv-tech.org/palen 500mw csp project scrapped/.
- Power Technology. 2020. "Noor Ouarzazate Solar Complex." Power Technology. March 6, 2020. https://www.power-technology.com/projects/noor-ouarzazate-solar-complex/.
- PR Newswire. 2018. "EPC Contract with Shanghai Electric to Develop 700 MW DEWA CSP Project Signed in China." PR Newswire. April 15, 2018. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/epc-contract-with-shanghai-electric-todevelop-700-mw-dewa-csp-project-signed-in-china-679802743.html.
- Ramasamy, Vignesh, David Feldman, Jal Desai, and Robert Margolis. 2021. "U.S. Solar Photovoltaic System and Energy Storage Cost Benchmarks: Q1 2021." NREL/TP-7A40-80694. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1829460.
- Reese, Samantha, Margaret Mann, Timothy Remo, and Kelsey Horowitz. 2018. "Regional Manufacturing Cost Structures and Supply Chain Considerations for Medium Voltage Silicon Carbide Power Applications." In . American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection. https://doi.org/10.1115/MSEC2018-6601.
- REN21. 2021. "Renewables 2021 Global Status Report." ISBN 978-3-948393-03-8. Paris, France: Renewable Energy Network for the 21st Century. https://www.ren21.net/wpcontent/uploads/2019/05/GSR2021 Full Report.pdf.
- Renewables Now. 2019. "UPDATE SolarReserve Ditches 2-GW CSP Project in Nevada." Renewablesnow.Com. April 18, 2019. https://renewablesnow.com/news/updatesolarreserve-ditches-2-gw-csp-project-in-nevada-651148/.
- . 2021. "Chile's Cerro Dominador CSP Plant Synced with the Grid." Renewablesnow.Com. April 12, 2021. https://renewablesnow.com/news/chiles-cerrodominador-csp-plant-synced-with-the-grid-737626/.
- RenewAfrica Biz. 2022. "Botswana Tenders for Two 100MW Concentrated Solar Power (CSP) Plants." Renew Africa. February 16, 2022. http://renewafrica.biz/csp/botswana-tendersfor-two-100mw-concentrated-solar-power-csp-plants/.
- Reuters Events. 2021. "Spain to Launch CSP Auction by End of Year; US May Require 39 GW of CSP to Decarbonise | Reuters Events | Renewables." October 13, 2021. https://www.reutersevents.com/renewables/solar-thermal/spain-launch-csp-auction-end-year-us-may-require-39-gw-csp-decarbonise.
- Reve. 2020. "World's Tallest Concentrated Solar Power Tower Completed in Dubai." January 30, 2020. https://www.evwind.es/2020/01/30/worlds-tallest-concentrated-solar-power-tower-completed-in-dubai/73309.
- Rioglass Solar. 2021. "Heliostat Mirror Facets." Rioglass Solar. Bittia Media S.L. 2021. https://www.rioglass.com/our-products/heliostat-mirror-facets.html.
- Saint-Gobain. 2010. "Saint-Gobain Solar Glass: Towards The Sun." Glassonweb.Com. January 14, 2010. https://www.glassonweb.com/news/saint-gobain-solar-glasstowards-sun.
- Sandia National Laboratories. 2021. "Gen 3 Particle Pilot Plant (G3P3)." 2021. https://energy.sandia.gov/programs/renewable-energy/csp/current-research-projects/gen-3-particle-pilot-plant-g3p3/.

- Sayles, Robin. 2020. "Solar Tower at Pasta Plant Spurs New Generator Design | Reuters Events | Renewables." Reuters Events. November 18, 2020. https://www.reutersevents.com/renewables/solar-thermal/solar-tower-pasta-plant-spursnew-generator-design.
- . 2021. "CSP Build Pipeline Must Hit 'GWs' to Fend off PV Menace." Reuters Events. March 11, 2021. https://www.reutersevents.com/renewables/solar-thermal/csp-buildpipeline-must-hit-gws-fend-pv-menace.
- sbp. 2022. "Kumul Dongfang Tower Stellio." Sbp Sonne. 2022. https://www.sbp.solar/project/kumul-dongfang-tower-stellio/?lang=en.
- Shields, Matt, Ruth Marsh, Jeremy Stefek, Frank Oteri, Ross Gould, Noe Rouxel, Katherine Diaz, et al. 2022. "The Demand for a Domestic Offshore Wind Energy Supply Chain." NREL/TP-5000-81602. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1860239.
- Shultz, Avi. 2020. "Autonomous Integrated Heliostat Field and Components." Presented at the SETO CSP R&D Virtual Workshop Series. https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2020/11/f80/SETO%20CSP%20R%26D%20Virt ual%20Workshop%20-%20Heliostat%20Field%20and%20Components%20-%20Slides.pdf.
- SolarPACES. 2020. "SolarPACES Award Winner Vast Solar Plans a 50MW 24/7 Australian Solar Project." SolarPACES. July 24, 2020. https://www.solarpaces.org/solarpacesaward-winner-vast-solar-plans-a-50mw-24-7-australian-solar-project/.
- ———. 2022. "ACWA Power's Redstone CSP Draws Down Debt in 9th Month of Construction." SolarPACES. February 22, 2022. https://www.solarpaces.org/acwapowers-redstone-csp-draws-down-debt-in-9th-month-of-construction/.
- SolarPACES and NREL. 2021a. "Atacama I / Cerro Dominador 110MW CSP + 100 MW PV." December 2021. https://solarpaces.nrel.gov/project/atacama-i-cerro-dominador-110mwcsp-100-mw-pv.
- . 2021b. "Power China Qinghai Gonghe 50MW Tower." December 2021.
  - https://solarpaces.nrel.gov/project/power-china-qinghai-gonghe-50mw-tower.
  - ——. 2021c. "Ashalim Plot B/Megalim." December 2, 2021.
    - https://solarpaces.nrel.gov/project/ashalim-plot-b-megalim.
    - —. 2021d. "SUPCON Delingha 50 MW Tower." December 5, 2021.
      - https://solarpaces.nrel.gov/project/supcon-delingha-50-mw-tower.
- Statista. 2022a. "Employment in Silver Mines and Mills in the United States from 2016 to 2021." Statista. March 7, 2022. https://www.statista.com/statistics/253631/us-silver-mineproduction-since-2005/.
  - 2022b. "Employment in United States Copper Mines and Mills from 2010 to 2021." Statista. March 7, 2022. https://www.statista.com/statistics/254861/copper-consumptionof-the-us/.
- Stone & Associates. 2011. "Overview of the Solar Energy Industry and Supply Chain." January. https://www.bgafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/Solar-Overview-for-BGA-Final-Jan-2011.pdf.

Thomas Publishing Company. 2022a. "Top Aluminum Suppliers in the USA and Worldwide." Thomasnet. 2022. https://www.thomasnet.com/articles/top-suppliers/aluminummanufacturers-suppliers.

—. 2022b. "Top US Steel Companies and Steel Manufacturers in World." 2022. https://www.thomasnet.com/articles/top-suppliers/steel-suppliers-manufacturers.

- Thor, Trevor. 2020. "Status Of Latest Operating CSP Plants In Key CSP Countries: Israel." Presented at the Conference - Role Of Concentrating Solar Power In The Evolving Energy Market In The Western U.S., February 18. https://atainsights.com/wpcontent/uploads/2020/02/CSP-Projects-in-Key-Countries-ISRAEL\_T.-Thor-Parsons.pdf.
- Turchi, C. S., J. Stekli, and P. C. Bueno. 2017. "11 Concentrating Solar Power." In Fundamentals and Applications of Supercritical Carbon Dioxide (SCO<sub>2</sub>) Based Power Cycles, edited by Klaus Brun, Peter Friedman, and Richard Dennis, 269–92. Woodhead Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100804-1.00011-6.
- Turchi, Craig, Samuel Gage, Janna Martinek, Sameer Jape, Ken Armijo, Joe Coventry, John Pye, et al. 2021. "CSP Gen3: Liquid-Phase Pathway to SunShot." NREL/TP-5700-79323. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1807668.
- Turchi, Craig, Parthiv Kurup, Sertac Akar, and Francisco Flores. 2015. "Domestic Material Content in Molten-Salt Concentrating Solar Power Plants." NREL/TP-5500-64429. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.2172/1215314.
- US Census. 2020. "Contributions of Key Economic Sector Recognized on Manufacturing Day." Census.Gov. October 2, 2020. https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2020/10/manufacturing-still-among-top-fiveunited-states-employers.html.
- USGS. 2022. "Mineral Commodity Summaries 2022." Reston, Virginia: U.S. Geologic Survey. https://pubs.usgs.gov/periodicals/mcs2022/mcs2022.pdf.
- Vast Solar. 2014. "Dissemination Report: Heliostat Field and High Temperature Receiver Development." Vast Solar. https://arena.gov.au/assets/2015/09/Vast-Solar-Dissemination-Report.pdf.
- Wantenaar, Andries. 2022. "CSP Reinforces Position in China's Desert Green Power Complexes." Rethink Reserarch. March 30, 2022. https://rethinkresearch.biz/articles/cspreinforces-position-in-chinas-desert-green-power-complexes/.
- Wesoff, Eric. 2020. "Post Bankruptcy, Crescent Dunes CSP Plant Owner Wants Project Back Online by Year's End." PV Magazine USA. August 3, 2020. https://pv-magazineusa.com/2020/08/03/post-bankruptcy-and-doe-loan-owner-of-crescent-dunes-wants-cspplant-online-by-years-end/.
- WGR. 2011. "Low Iron Solar Glass Growth a Function of PV Uptake in All Regions of the World." WinterGreen Research, Inc.
- World Bank. 2011. "Middle East and North Africa Region Assessment of the Local Manufacturing Potential for Concentrated Solar Power (CSP) Projects." Washington D.C.: World Bank.

https://www.isi.fraunhofer.de/content/dam/isi/dokumente/ccx/2011/CSP\_MENA\_report 17 Jan2011.pdf.

—. 2013. "Development of Local Supply Chain: A Critical Link for Concentrated Solar Power in India." Washington, DC: World Bank.

https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/17472.

—. 2021. "Concentrating Solar Power: Clean Power on Demand 24/7." Washington D.C.: World Bank. https://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/849341611761898393/WorldBank-CSP-Report-Concentrating-Solar-Power-Clean-Power-on-Demand-24-7-FINAL.pdf.

- Xavier Lara. 2021. "What's the Best Size for a Concentrated Solar Power Plant?" Pacific Green Technologies. 2021. https://www.pacificgreen-group.com/articles/whats-best-sizeconcentrated-solar-power-plant.
- XE. 2022. "11,600,000,000 ZAR to USD South African Rand to US Dollars Exchange Rate." XE.Com. March 29, 2022. https://www.xe.com/currencyconverter/convert/?Amount=11600000000&From=ZAR&T o=USD.
- Zhang, Xin, Xiaojia Dong, and Xinyu Li. 2021. "Study of China's Optimal Concentrated Solar Power Development Path to 2050." *Frontiers in Energy Research* 9 (November). https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fenrg.2021.724021.
- Zhifeng, Wang. 2019. "CSP Technology and Industry Development in China." March 19. https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2019/04/f61/CSP%20Summit%202019%20Panel %203%20%E2%80%93%20CAS%20Wang.pdf.